
 

             AGENDA 
          ASTORIA CITY COUNCIL 

October 3, 2016 
7:00 p.m. 

2nd Floor Council Chambers 
1095 Duane Street  Astoria OR  97103 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
2. ROLL CALL 
 
3. REPORTS OF COUNCILORS 
 
4. CHANGES TO AGENDA 
 
5. PRESENTATIONS 

(a) Update on Construction of New Aerial Fire Truck 
 
6. CONSENT CALENDAR 

The items on the Consent Calendar are considered routine and will be adopted by one 
motion unless a member of the City Council requests to have any item considered 
separately.  Members of the community may have an item removed if they contact the City 
Manager by 5:00 p.m. the day of the meeting. 
(a) City Council Minutes of 9/6/16 
(b) Finance Department Status Report 
(c) Fire Department Status Report 
(d) Spur 14 Waterline – Revised Contract Amendment for Construction Engineering Services 

(Public Works) 
(e) 16th Street CSO Separation Project – Payment Adjustment No. 6 (Public Works) 
(f) Authorization to Award Contract to ArborPro, Inc., for Tree Inventory and Condition 

Services in Astoria Parks and Open Spaces (Parks) 
 
7. REGULAR AGENDA ITEMS 

All agenda items are open for public comment following deliberation by the City Council.  
Rather than asking for public comment after each agenda item, the Mayor asks that audience 
members raise their hands if they want to speak to the item and they will be recognized.  In 
order to respect everyone’s time, comments will be limited to 3 minutes. 
(a) Liquor License Application from Michael Cameron-Lattek, doing business as Street 14 

Café, Located at 1410 Commercial Street, for an Additional Privilege for an Off-Premises 
Sales License (Finance) 

(b) Ordinance Readopting Local Fuel Tax (2nd reading & adoption) (Finance) 
(c) Resolution Declaring a Vacancy for the Position of Councilor, Ward 2 (City Council) 
(d) Parklet Proposal (Community Development) 

 
8. NEW BUSINESS & MISCELLANEOUS, PUBLIC COMMENTS (NON-AGENDA) 
 
9. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

(a) ORS 192.660(2)(i) – Performance Evaluations of Public Officers and Employees 
(b) ORS 192.660(2)(d) – Labor Negotiation Consultations 

 
 

THIS MEETING IS ACCESSIBLE TO THE DISABLED.  AN INTERPRETER FOR THE 
HEARING IMPAIRED MAY BE REQUESTED UNDER THE TERMS OF ORS 192.630  

BY CONTACTING JULIE YUILL, CITY MANAGER’S OFFICE, 503-325-5824 
 



 
 

CITY OF ASTORIA 
   Founded 1811 ● Incorporated 1856 

 
 
 
September 29, 2016 
 
 
 
M E M O R A N D U M 
 
TO: MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

FROM:  BRETT ESTES, CITY MANAGER 
 
SUBJECT: ASTORIA CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF OCTOBER 3, 2016 
 
PRESENTATIONS 
 
Item 5(a): Update on Construction of New Aerial Fire Truck 
 

Fire Chief Ted Ames will make a presentation regarding the status of construction 
of the new aerial fire truck. 

 
CONSENT CALENDAR 
 
Item 6(a): City Council Minutes 
 

The minutes of the City Council meeting of September 6, 2016 are enclosed for 
review.  Unless there are any corrections, it is recommended that Council 
approve these minutes. 

 
Item 6(b): Finance Department Status Report 
 

Enclosed is a status report regarding Finance Department projects.  This report is 
provided for information only. 

 
Item 6(c): Fire Department Status Report 
 

Enclosed is a status report regarding Fire Department projects.  This report is 
provided for information only. 

 
Item 6(d): Spur 14 Waterline – Revised Contract Amendment for Construction 

Engineering Services (Public Works) 
 

CH2M Hill has been providing engineering design services for the Spur 14 Water 
Line Project.  The project includes the installation of 700 feet of raw water pipe 
and associated flow measurement and control appurtenances.  Upon completion, 
the project will provide better operational control over source water selection, 
better flow monitoring, reduce maintenance on existing pressure relief valves, 



Page 2 of 5 

and should reduce the level of disinfection byproducts (DBP) in the City's treated 
water.  This will also enhance the City's ability to stay in compliance with recent 
United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) drinking water 
regulations.  The construction contract was awarded to Big River Construction at 
the June 20, 2016 Council meeting, with the construction engineering services 
Contract Amendment #3 approved at the July 5, 2016 Council meeting.  The fee 
schedule associated with Contract Amendment #3 contained an accounting error 
that resulted in an incorrect total.  The correct total fee is $61,323.20, not the 
$55,374.66 identified in Contract Amendment #3.  This results in a difference of 
$5,948.54.  Contract Amendment #4, which is attached, addresses this 
accounting error by increasing the compensation appropriately.  Funding for the 
additional fee associated with construction services is proposed to come from the 
Public Work Improvement Fund.  It is recommended that Council approve 
Contract Amendment #4 with CH2M Hill to correct the accounting error 
associated with Contract Amendment #3.  The total additional compensation for 
Contract Amendment #4 is $5,948.54. 

 
Item 6(e): 16th Street CSO Separation Project – Pay Adjustment No. 6 (Public Works) 
 

The 16th Street Combined Sewer Overflow (CSO) Separation project was 
awarded to Emery & Sons Construction Group (Emery) for the bid amount of 
$5,483,180.  Staff recommended and incorporated a standard 10% contingency 
to the budget for this project.  The construction contingency of 10% is $549,000.  
Pay adjustment No. 6, which is the final pay adjustment for this project, is in the 
amount of $318,732.87 and includes a variety of changes that are itemized 
below:  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The total amount that will be paid to Emery, including this pay adjustment, will be 
$5,953,153.10.  Following is a summary of pay adjustments to date: 

 

Item Description Cost 
1 Installation of green thermoplastic stripe for Fort Astoria $425.70 
2 Pavement grinding $1,073.13 
3 Additional required waterline testing $807.02 
4 Reconstruct 16th St from Duane to Exchange $2,572.50 
5 Addition of waterline Field Loks $3,578.71 
6 Reconnect chair wall tie-backs $2,789.34 
7 Standby time for archaeological monitoring $543.13 
8 Replace grates on existing catch basins $628.73 
9 Reconciliation of bid items $304,897.11 

10 Reconciliation of Change Order item 2.3 – add sidewalk $1,417.50 
 TOTAL $318,732.87 



Page 3 of 5 

Pay 
Adjustment Total Amount

City Portion of 
Pay Adjustment Contract Amount

Contingency 
Balance

Contingency 
Balance 

Percentage
$5,483,180.00 $549,000.00 100%

1 $7,535.00 $7,535.00 $5,490,715.00 $541,465.00 99%
2 $83,063.46 $83,063.46 $5,573,778.46 $458,401.54 83%
3 $2,757.86 $0.00 $5,576,536.32 $458,401.54 83%
4 $0.00 $0.00 $5,576,536.32 $458,401.54 83%
5 $59,301.41 $10,301.41 $5,635,837.73 $448,100.13 82%
6 $318,732.87 $318,732.87 $5,954,570.60 $178,367.26 32%  

 
Funds are available for this pay adjustment through IFA funding that includes 
$525,000 grant and the balance is loan.  It is recommended that the City Council 
authorize Pay Adjustment No. 6 for the 16th Street CSO Separation project in the 
amount of $318,732.87.  

 
Item 6(f): Authorization to Award Contract to ArborPro, Inc., for Tree Inventory and 

Condition Services in Astoria Parks and Open Spaces (Parks) 
 

The City of Astoria’s Parks and Recreation Department oversees 310 acres of 
park land and open space and maintains a wide variety of native and exotic tree 
species. In the past year the Parks and Recreation Department removed 14 trees 
and spent $21,620 on pruning and/or removal of hazardous trees.  When trees 
fall into a hazardous state they no longer provide the positive financial and 
environmental aspects of; cleaning the air we breathe, providing oxygen, 
preventing soil erosion, providing shade, increasing property values, reducing 
stress, and providing a habitat for wildlife.  Contrary, trees that became 
hazardous or in a dead, diseased or dangerous state turn a park into a 
dangerous place to recreate and have caused damage to park amenities and to 
the property of neighboring property owners. 

 
During the 2016-2017 Fiscal Year budget process, City Council allocated 
$30,000 to inventory the trees managed by the Parks and Recreation 
Department.  This inventory would develop an index of the type, condition, size, 
location, health, and potential hazards for all individual trees in the parks and 
open spaces managed by the Department.  During the August 1, 2016 City 
Council meeting, Council authorized the Parks and Recreation Department to 
Request Proposals (RFP) for the Tree Inventory and Condition report. The Parks 
and Recreation Department solicited and received proposals for 30 days, ending 
on September 2, 2016.  As identified in the RFP, proposals were evaluated and 
scored with equal weighting in each in the areas of; quality of proposal, 
methodology, vendor qualifications/references, and cost.  Proposals were 
received from three companies with the following rankings and bids:  
 

Company 
Review Committee 

Ranking Bid 
ArborPro, Inc. 1st  $27,000  
Davey Resource Group 2nd  $28,586  
Arbor Care, Inc. 3rd  $38,989  



Page 4 of 5 

After evaluation of the three proposals, it was determined that ArborPro’s 
proposal and price best suited the Park’s Department’s goals and would provide 
the most comprehensive services for this project.  It is recommended that 
Council approve the tree inventory and condition survey contract with ArborPro, 
Inc., in the amount of $27,000.  There are funds allocated for this work in the 
Fiscal Year 2016-2017 Capital Improvement Fund. 

 
REGULAR AGENDA ITEMS 
 
Item 7(a): Liquor License Application from Michael Cameron-Lattek, doing business 

as Street 14 Café, Located at 1410 Commercial Street, for an Additional 
Privilege for an Off-Premises Sales License (Finance)  

 
A Liquor License Application has been filed by Michael Cameron-Lattek, doing 
business as Street 14 Café, Located at 1410 Commercial Street, Astoria.  The 
application is for an Additional Privilege for an Off-Premises Sales License.  The 
appropriate departments have reviewed the application and it is recommended 
that Council consider approval of the application. 

 
Item 7(b): Ordinance Readopting Local Fuel Tax (2nd reading & adoption) (Finance) 
 

This proposed ordinance received its first reading at the September 19, 2016 
City Council meeting.  Ordinance No. 07-02, which was adopted August 20, 
2007, pertains to the provision for administration, enforcement and collection of 
three cents per gallon business license tax on motor vehicle fuel dealers.  The 
use of tax revenue is for the construction, reconstruction, improvement, repair, 
maintenance, operation and use of City owned roads and streets within the City 
of Astoria, roads and streets for which the City is contractually or legally obligated 
to operate and maintain, or roads and streets for which the City has accepted 
responsibility under intergovernmental agreement.  The City of Astoria and the 
City of Warrenton adopted three cents per gallon business license tax ordinances 
at the same time and both will sunset in 2017, unless re-adopted.  Astoria and 
Warrenton desire to continue the road tax for road maintenance by readopting 
their respective ordinances.  The City of Astoria has an Intergovernmental 
Agreement (IGA) with the Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) for the 
collection and administration of the City's fuel tax which was amended in May, 
2016 to coincide with City of Warrenton's IGA ending September, 2016.  Both 
Agreements have been extended through September 30, 2021.  It is 
advantageous to have the ordinance renewal coincide with the timeline for the 
IGA with ODOT and early readoption by both Councils is being sought.  City 
Attorney Henningsgaard prepared the attached readoption ordinance.  It is 
recommended that the City Council hold the second reading and adopt the 
proposed ordinance readopting a motor vehicle fuel tax. 

 
Item 7(c): Resolution Declaring a Vacancy for the Position of Councilor, Ward 2 (City 

Council) 
 

Drew Herzig was elected to the position of Councilor Ward 2 for a four year term 
expiring on December 31, 2016.  Mr. Herzig has submitted his resignation as 



Page 5 of 5 

Councilor of Ward 2 effective September 13, 2016.  Pursuant to Astoria City 
Charter Sections 4.8 and 4.9, the Astoria City Council may appoint an individual 
to the position or declare that a vacancy exists in the position of Councilor, Ward 
2 and that said vacancy will be filled at the next available election, November 8, 
2016.  It is recommended that Council either determine to make an appointment 
or consider the attached resolution stating the vacancy will be filled at the next 
available election, November 8, 2016.  

 
Item 7(d): Parklet Proposal (Community Development) 
 

On August 3, 2015, Council unanimously approved the launch of the Parklet Pilot 
Program. City staff has received an application from a business owner regarding 
the potential of a “parklet” to be located within a designated, on street parking 
space in downtown Astoria.  The application and supporting documents are 
attached.  A parklet will facilitate the use of public space for small, outdoor, 
commercial spaces in the street rights of way adjacent to storefront locations. In 
many cities that permit this activity, the street becomes an activated and inviting 
community space. In downtowns or older commercial areas where public space 
might be underutilized, parklets are an urban design tool to provide more outdoor 
seating, landscaping, and to inject more activity into the streetscape.  Since 
parklets involve the private use of a public right of way, City staff (including 
ADHDA) has drawn on work done in other cities, including Sacramento and 
Portland, to develop and adapt several policies which were adopted by Council 
August 3, 2015.   The ADHDA Executive Director and Board President reviewed 
the revised proposal and reiterated their support. As a reminder, once a property 
owner proposes a parklet project, staff would review the project and then present 
the proposal with a recommendation to the City Council for final approval.  It is 
recommended that Council approve the proposed parklet with the conditions 
contained in the memorandum.   

 
EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 
Item 9(a): ORS 192.660(2)(i) – Performance Evaluations of Public Officers and 

Employees 
 

The City Council will meet in executive session to discuss a performance 
evaluation. 
 

Item 9(b): ORS 192.660(2)(d) – Labor Negotiation Consultations 
 

The City Council will meet in executive session to consult with members of its 
labor contract negotiating team. 



  

Page 1 of 5  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  September 6, 2016 

CITY OF ASTORIA      CITY COUNCIL JOURNAL OF PROCEEDINGS  
City Council Chambers 
September 6, 2016 
 
A regular meeting of the Astoria Common Council was held at the above place at the hour of 7:00 pm. 
 
Councilors Present: Nemlowill, Herzig, Warr, Price, Mayor LaMear 
 
Councilors Excused: None 
 
Staff Present: City Manager Estes, Community Development Director Cronin, Parks and Recreation Director 
Cosby, Finance Director Brooks, Fire Chief Ames, Police Chief Johnston, and Public Works Director Cook. The 
meeting is recorded and will be transcribed by ABC Transcription Services, Inc.  
 
REPORTS OF COUNCILORS 
 

Item 3(a): Councilor Nemlowill reported that this would be Councilor Herzig’s last meeting. When 
she was on the Planning Commission, Councilor Herzig encouraged her to run for City Council. He had said 
being a Councilor would not be more work than being president of the Planning Commission. This has not been 
her experience, but she appreciated his support and their mutual interest in democracy. Councilor Herzig ruffled 
some feathers, but she always got along well with him. She appreciated that he was a good politician who stayed 
informed by attending meetings and listening to the people without hardening himself too much. This is a difficult 
position that requires one to harden themselves at times because Councilors can get attacked and people can 
say nasty things. Councilor Herzig allowed himself to be vulnerable and she would miss him and Charlie. 
 
 Item 3(b): Councilor Herzig thanked Councilor Nemlowill for understanding their shared belief in 
democracy. It meant a lot that he played a part in getting her on City Council. He reported that he attended 
Coffee with a Cop at the Blue Scorcher, which is a noisy and crowded venue; however, he was able to sit with 
Astoria’s newest police officer, Officer Kevin Berry. Officer Berry is optimistic, idealistic, and believes in calling 
out any culture of corruption. It was wonderful to hear his enthusiasm. The entire table agreed that the best 
model for community policing is Officer Kenneth Hanson. The event needs more publicity because it is definitely 
worth attending. The Fire Department’s open house was also a great event. Chief Ames has done great work 
and his staff and volunteers are very dedicated. The annual events are a great opportunity to let the Fire and 
Police Departments know they are heroes. Being on City Council has allowed him to learn how much the Coast 
Guard does for the country and the community. They save lives and save the environment on a daily basis and 
they are the most unsung branch of the armed services. It has been a privilege to learn more about the Coast 
Guard. 
 
 Item 3(c): Councilor Price reported that Tom Brownson was present. Mr. Brownson is the only 
candidate for Ward 2, which is Councilor Herzig’s seat. She looked forward to serving with him over the next few 
years. She thanked Staff for the department reports, Item 6(d) on the Consent Calendar. The reports indicate an 
urgent need for staff in all departments. Finding the ability to hire additional staff will be very difficult and she 
hoped Council would address efforts to resolve the issue. The workload that Council is putting on various 
departments is not sustainable. She said she had deep respect for Councilor Herzig’s advocacy of the safety, 
security, and respect for everyone. She wished him and Charlie the best. 
 
 Item 3(d): Councilor Warr thanked Councilor Herzig for his service and complemented him for his 
efforts on City Council. He and Councilor Herzig did not always agree, but Councilor Herzig worked hard at 
everything he did. He wished Councilor Herzig and Charlie the best future. 
 
 Item 3(e): Mayor LaMear said Councilor Herzig’s work on the diversity committee has been 
commendable. Every few weeks, there was a new program on diversity in the community. It was great to be 
reminded of all the different people in Astoria. She appreciated all of his efforts, including his work with the 
homeless. The warming center would not exist without Councilor Herzig, Charlie, and several others in the 
community. She wished them well. 
 



  

Page 2 of 5  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  September 6, 2016 

CHANGES TO AGENDA 
 
City Manager Estes requested the removal of Consent Agenda Item 6(k) so that Staff could make some 
revisions. Mayor LaMear requested that Consent Agenda Item 6(i) be removed until City Attorney 
Henningsgaard could be present. The agenda was approved with changes. 
 
PROCLAMATIONS 
 

Item 5(a): Constitution Week 
 
Mayor LaMear read the proclamation declaring September 17 through 23, 2016 as Constitution Week. 
 
CONSENT CALENDAR 
 
The following items were presented on the Consent Calendar: 

6(a) City Council Minutes of 8/1/16 
6(b) City Council Minutes of 8/15/16 
6(c) Boards and Commission Minutes 

(1) Historic Landmarks Commission Meeting of 6/21/16 
6(d) Department Project Status Reports 

(1) Community Development 
(2) Parks and Recreation 
(3) Police Department 
(4) Public Works 

6(e) Fiscal Year 2016-17 Dispatch Service Agreements (Police) 
6(f) Authorize Solid Waste Engineering Consultant Services for Former Astoria Landfill (Public Works) 
6(g) Authorize Landfill Notice of Real Property (Public Works) 
6(h) Authorize Recology Lease Amendment (Public Works) 
6(i) Agreement for City Attorney Legal Services (City Council) 
6(j) 7th and Astor Streets Sanitary Sewer Improvement Project – Contract For Design Services (Public 

Works) 
6(k) Authorization to Approve Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) with Oregon Department of Transportation 

(ODOT) for 33rd Street and Highway 30 Street Lights (Public Works) 
6(l) Authorization to Lease Plotter-Copier-Scanner (Public Works) 
6(m) Authorization to Award Contract to Associated Cleaning Services, Inc., for Custodial Services at Tourist 

Related Sites (Parks) 
 
Items 6(i) and 6(k) were removed during Item 4 Changes to the Agenda. Councilor Nemlowill requested Item 
6(d)(2) be removed for further discussion. 
 
City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Warr, seconded by Councilor Price, to approve Items 6(a), (b), 
(c), (d)(1), (d)(3), (d)(4), (e), (f), (g), (h), (j), (l) and (m) on the Consent Calendar. Motion carried unanimously. 
Ayes: Councilors Price, Warr, Herzig, Nemlowill, and Mayor LaMear; Nays: None. 
 

Item 6(d)(2) Parks and Recreation Department Project Status Report 
 
Councilor Nemlowill stated the report indicated two employees no longer worked for the department. She wanted 
to know when those positions would be filled. City Council received a letter with specific complaints about the 
state of the Aquatic Center and she has heard verbal feedback on the issues. She has also heard a lot of 
positive feedback about the Aquatic Center, but staffing or the aquatic center is a top priority in the Parks and 
Recreation Master Plan. She was concerned about the positions and the resources put into managing the 
Aquatic Center. She also noted that the Chip-In program is great and wanted to know if the program coordinator 
position would be filled. 
 
Director Cosby said former Chip-In coordinator Melissa Keyser began working full time for Cannon Beach, so 
Grounds Coordinator Randy Bohrer took over the program because his job description includes volunteer duties. 
She found some efficiencies in combing the two roles because the Grounds Coordinator must be present at 



  

Page 3 of 5  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  September 6, 2016 

Chip-In events to help run power tools. It will be easier on the budget to continue allowing the Grounds 
Coordinator to manage the Chip-In program so the Chip-In coordinator position will not be filled. 
 
Councilor Nemlowill said she was surprised that the maintenance staff had to take on the Chip-In program 
because they are already so overburdened. Director Cosby said the situation is not ideal and she would love to 
fill the position. However, funds have not been budgeted to do so. City Manager Estes explained that funds 
budgeted for the current fiscal year will not provide enough financial support to maintain facilities at the same 
level as in prior years, even with the increases in the budget. Director Cosby is working on a presentation that 
will be presented to City Council in October. Information in the presentation will allow City Council to consider 
options for addressing priorities within the Parks Department and consider opportunities identified in the Parks 
Master Plan for addition funds. Staff understands the Aquatic Center is one of the facilities that the community 
strongly supports and they are looking for opportunities. He believed the position at the Aquatic Center would be 
posted within the next month. 
 
Councilor Herzig said every department needs staffing. The Parks Department is one of the most stretched 
departments in Astoria. Director Cosby has tried, but it is difficult to hire people when better paying jobs are 
becoming more readily available in Clatsop County. The Interim Library Manager did not provide a report and he 
understood the library was severely understaffed and underfunded as well. Staff is waiting for a Library Director 
to be hired before staffing issues will be addressed. All of the departments are struggling and are making do with 
very little. It is amazing what still gets accomplished. City Manager Estes said he hoped people would begin to 
take notice of some of the parks. Now that the City has contracted with Greensmith Landscaping, work has 
begun on the most visited park facilities. The visual impact to these areas has been positive. Parks maintenance 
staff has been working with Greensmith over the last few weeks to get some of the work completed. Director 
Cosby confirmed for Councilor Herzig that Parks staff was responsible for clearing out the area at the bottom of 
the pigeon steps. 
 
Councilor Price said City Council would receive a quarterly financial report in October. She asked if a work 
session could be scheduled in October or November to discuss budget issues and priorities. Public Works 
cannot even do planning right now and the new Library Director will ask Council for a lot. A City cannot get 
grants for personnel and she believed the issues should be discussed. 
 
Mayor LaMear directed City Manager Estes to schedule a work session or special meeting to discuss staffing. 
Every department needs more staff and City Council will have to make some difficult decisions. City Manager 
Estes confirmed he would find an available date in October. 
 
City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Nemlowill, seconded by Councilor Price, to approve Item 
6(d)(2) on the Consent Calendar. Motion carried unanimously. Ayes: Councilors Price, Warr, Herzig, Nemlowill, 
and Mayor LaMear; Nays: None. 
 
REGULAR AGENDA ITEMS 
 

Item 7(a): Ordinance Approving the Assignment of Non-Exclusive Telecommunication 
Franchise from CoastCom, Inc. to Astound Broadband, LLC (Finance) (2nd  Reading 
and Adoption) 

 
This proposed ordinance received its first reading at the August 15, 2016 City Council meeting. Ordinance 16-03 
was approved March 21, 2016, granting a franchise to CoastCom, Inc., for operation of telecommunications 
facilities within City rights-of-way. The ordinance: 
 

• Requires COASTCOM, INC. to pay a fee to the City equal to 7.0 percent of the gross revenue earned 
within the City 

• Provides procedures for amendment and renewal of the franchise. 
• Imposes certain reporting requirements. 

 
Astound Broadband, LLC has entered into a purchase agreement with CoastCom, Inc. to acquire the assets and 
operation of CoastCom, Inc. Matt Updenkelder, Vice President of Operations for CoastCom, Inc. has requested 
City Council consider assignment of the CoastCom franchise to Astound Broadband, LLC. Included in this 



  

Page 4 of 5  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  September 6, 2016 

packet is an Ordinance approving the assignment of a non-exclusive telecommunication franchise. The 
documents have been reviewed and approved as to form by City Attorney Henningsgaard. It is recommended 
that Council conduct the second reading and adopt the proposed ordinance. 
 
Director Brooks conducted the second reading of the ordinance. 
 
City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Nemlowill, seconded by Councilor Price, to adopt Ordinance 
16-03 approving the assignment of Non-Exclusive Telecommunication Franchise from CoastCom, Inc. to 
Astound Broadband, LLC. Motion carried unanimously. Ayes: Councilors Price, Warr, Herzig, Nemlowill, and 
Mayor LaMear; Nays: None. 
 

Item 7(b): Parking and Visitor Information Agreement with Astoria Downtown Historic District 
Association (ADHDA) (Police)  

 
During the budget hearings for Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2017, staff presented a concept of providing a new 
service of contracting downtown parking enforcement to the Astoria Downtown Historic District Association 
(ADHDA). As a part of their duties, the ADHDA parking officer would also provide information services to visitors. 
Because of both encouraging turnover in downtown parking spaces and providing visitor information, this 
program can be funded from the Promote Astoria Fund. Staff has negotiated a contract that is acceptable to 
both staff and the ADHDA. The contract provides $22,000 to the ADHDA to provide both services. 
Administration of the program is left to the ADHDA. Any parking violations written by the ADHDA employee 
would be filed in Astoria Municipal Court and any fine proceeds retained by the City. The City will provide 
citations and uniforms to the ADHDA employee. ADHDA will be required to submit annual reports. The ADHDA 
Board has approved the agreement and is ready to sign the agreement. The $22,000 is included as a line item in 
the Promote Astoria Fund. The document has been reviewed and approved as to form by City Attorney 
Henningsgaard. It is recommended that Council authorize execution of the contract and approve the expenditure 
of the funds from the Promote Astoria Fund. 
 
Councilor Price said she had only seen one negative comment about this agreement on social media. The 
comment indicated that a business owner could take this job and give tickets to people parked in front of their 
business without giving tickets to people parked in front of other businesses. Chief Johnston responded there 
were several flaws with that concept. One, the ADHDA is required to perform and provide accounting for their 
performance. Two, the ADHDA is not the only entity with enforcement authority in the area. The Police 
Department could still enforce parking regulations in the downtown area. Additionally, several ethics laws would 
be violated in the situation as described by Councilor Price. 
 
Councilor Nemlowill asked why the Police Department was working with the ADHDA on parking services. Chief 
Johnston explained that the Police Department is required by the FBI to conduct background checks and 
security train any employees with unrestricted access to the department. After recruiting, the two chosen 
candidates were unable to get past the background check process. While these candidates were appropriate for 
the job, FBI standards deemed them ineligible for unrestricted access to the Police Department building. Cannon 
Beach and Albany are sharing responsibilities with their downtown association or chamber of commerce. No one 
is more motivated to turn over parking downtown and provide information to tourists than the ADHDA. 
 
Councilor Nemlowill said she supported this concept throughout the budget process. Downtown Astoria 
desperately needs parking enforcement and the businesses can really feel the effects of not having enforcement 
right now. It is increasingly difficult for customers to find places to park, but she was concerned about how 
sustainable this arrangement would be. This position is not being offset by taking funds away from the Police 
Department and there is increasing debate about how to use Promote Astoria Funds. Chief Johnston stated this 
position has been budgeted for in the General Fund and has remained sustainable for quite some time. City 
Manager Estes added that future projections for the Promote Astoria Fund include a healthy stream of revenues. 
Sustainability will depend on the priorities identified during the next budget cycle. He believed there would be 
enough funds for this contract, but there may not be enough funds for other projects. This model provides an 
overall benefit to the City of Astoria. If the City did not pay for this position using this model, the staffing costs 
would impact the General Fund. Currently, Staff believes this model can continue as long as City Council makes 
the position a priority. 
 
Councilor Nemlowill said she appreciated the ADHDA and she hoped the arrangement worked. 



  

Page 5 of 5  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  September 6, 2016 

Councilor Herzig asked if the City could legally authorize a civilian to issue parking citations. Chief Johnston said 
yes, an Ordinance allows the City Manager to appoint three levels of enforcement authority. Staff anticipates 
presenting Council with a Code change to make some minor changes, but the City Attorney did not anticipate 
any problems with the existing laws. He confirmed the ADHDA would hire a parking attendant who would be 
deputized by the City Manger to have enforcement authority. 
 
Councilor Herzig said if the City is going to have civilians issuing citations, the public needs to know they are 
authorized to do so. Chief Johnston said the Police Department would provide uniforms and the contract states 
only people wearing uniforms can write citations. 
 
City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Price, seconded by Councilor Nemlowill to authorize execution 
of a service contract with Astoria Downtown Historic District Association and approve the expenditure of $22,000 
from the Promote Astoria Fund. Motion carried unanimously. Ayes: Councilors Price, Warr, Herzig, Nemlowill, 
and Mayor LaMear; Nays: None. 
 
NEW BUSINESS & MISCELLANEOUS, PUBLIC COMMENTS (NON-AGENDA) 
 
Sylvia Davis, 2775 Steam Whistle Way, Astoria, thanked Councilor Herzig and Charlie for their work in the 
community. 
 
Tom Duncan, 511 Jerome, Astoria, also thanked Councilor Herzig and Charlie. 
 
Chris Farrar, 3023 Harrison Avenue, Astoria, said Councilor Herzig has moved a lot of people to participate in 
the local government. Councilor Herzig has inspired him to voice his perspective, which he appreciates. He will 
also miss Charlie’s art. 
 
Doris Swenson, 2252 SE Salal Loop, Warrenton, said she appreciated Councilor Herzig. She first knew 
Councilor Herzig as a dance instructor, who taught her and her husband to work hard and expand their 
strengths. She is the Astoria Senior Center’s ambassador to the Chamber of Commerce. Councilor Herzig 
fought hard for many things at the Senior Center. He also started the Astoria Warming Center and worked with 
the Lower Columbia Diversity Project. She has learned so much from knowing Councilor Herzig and he 
broadened her horizon by helping her learn. She believed Councilor Herzig ran into brick walls many times, but 
he never gave up. He always had a vision for a greater Astoria in many areas of the community. Councilor 
Herzig also has a beautiful singing voice. Councilor Herzig and Charlie will be missed. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 7:43 pm to convene the Astoria Development 
Commission meeting.  
 
ATTEST:       APPROVED: 
 
 
 
              
Finance Director City Manager  



 
 

CITY OF ASTORIA 
   Founded 1811 ● Incorporated 1856 

 

September 23, 2016 
 
 
M E M O R A N D U M 
 
TO: MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

FROM:  BRETT ESTES, CITY MANAGER 
 
SUBJECT: FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES STATUS REPORT 
 
The following summaries related to Finance and Administrative Services projects and activities for 
the current year. 
 
OPENGOV 
 
• Director Brooks and Financial Analyst Snyder have been able to upload and verify historical 

data and current information to the OpenGov platform.  The process began as uploading and 
verifying five years of data and the database of accounts.  Once we went back past three years 
we realized comparability of data was not as meaningful for Parks and Recreation because of 
splitting out information to a new fund.  Several challenges have created additional reconciling 
steps for us but we are ready to roll out training for Department Heads first and then we will 
organize training for Council.  We continue to develop reporting formats and specific queries or 
“views” for internal and external reporting. 

• Financial Report Manager Puckett received training regarding data uploads to OpenGov after 
month-end processes have been completed. 
   

COMMUNITY GRANT APPLICATIONS 
 
• In anticipation of the budget cycle and grant process FY 16-17, the Service Organization and 

Arts & Cultural funding applications were updated, posted to our website and notifications were 
sent electronically to former applicants and the media by February 2, 2016.   

• Mid-year reports were received and were included with copies of new applications.  Binders 
were prepared for subcommittee review to make recommendations.   

• Integrated with the distributions FY 16-17 was requested feedback to each agency, from the 
subcommittee, regarding additional information which may enhance future applications and 
acknowledgement of items in application which enhanced committee member understanding 
and the distribution outcome for the applicant.  Additional information was provided regarding 
leveraging and matching funds to all applicants to provide better information regarding these 
sources in future applications. 
 

AUDIT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT PREPARATION 
 
• A request for proposals (RFP) process for Audit Services was approved by Council on January 

4, 2016 and the solicitation process began late January.  Merina & Company, LLC was chosen 
as the successful firm to provide financial statement audit services. 

• Initial fieldwork began the week of July 18 and final field work is scheduled for the week of 
October 17.  Preliminary closure of Fiscal Year 2015-2016 information was conducted by City 
staff in August with preparation of year end accruals taking place through September. 



 
 
 
 

• Staff have begun training related to upcoming Generally Accepted Standards Board (GASB) 45 
changes which are related to Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB).  OPEB   
postemployment benefits include healthcare and life insurance.  GASB establishes standards 
for the measurement, recognition and display of OPEB expense/expenditures and related 
liabilities, note disclosures and supplementary information in financial reports.  
The audited Financial Statements for FYE June 30, 2015 initially scheduled for completion by 
December 31, 2015, were received in May, 2016.  All agency filings related to these statements 
were completed shortly after the audited statements were received.  Management letters 
generally document deficiencies in internal control or other areas which may be improved that 
are identified during the audit.  A management letter is used to communicate deficiencies and 
suggested improvements to those in charge.  Pauly Rogers & Company did not issue a 
management letter for the FYE June 30, 2015 audit. 

• Initiated request for valuation of donated DeMuro lots.  Property has been held as an 
investment to provide funding for Heritage Square upon sale and therefore Fair Market 
Valuation must be determined fiscal year ending June 30, 2015 presentation in compliance with 
new GASB 72 pronouncement.  Public Works Department is currently awaiting an appraisal 
report which should be complete by end of September, 2016. 
 

FINANCE DEPARTMENT  
 
• Director Brooks reviewed a variety of financial processes to enhance understanding of the 

various processes which comprise the City’s financial framework.  Staff have been working with 
Springbrook to enhance the work flow aspects of purchase order approvals and implemented 
training for users to ensure recognition of encumbrances, as contracts are approved and 
initiated. 

• Review of systems and processes has enhanced procedures for payroll and benefit review. 
• Finance took over administrative (sales) functions of Oceanview Cemetery in August.  Training 

through the City’s GIS vendor is anticipated by mid-October to continue to update the cemetery 
online plot locator. 

• Finance staff have worked with Parks staff enabling a new credit card processing company, 
ETS, in coordination with the launch of RecTrac.  Finance and Parks staff continue to work 
through Automated Clearing House (ACH) transaction processes related to online transactions 
and monthly payments set up through RecTrac.  All credit card machines were fully 
implemented by mid-September by iFocus.  Finance has enhanced ability to track credit card 
transactions and reprint receipts through web based software provided by vender ETS. 

• Finance staff began utilizing RecTrac software in July and has developed standardized 
reporting for the review, input, transaction tracing and deposit reconciliation.   

• Director Brooks is working with Spyglass, LLC on the telecommunications audit.  Several areas 
require review to determine if recommendations can be initiated and whether savings will 
result.  The basic report has identified $20.64 in charged tax which should be removed and 
refunded and potential to discontinue push to talk service in one department which would have 
an annual savings of $144.  Other areas identified for future savings relate to reconfiguring data 
blocks and renegotiating terms for a potential savings of $2,000 per year. 

 
OPEN ENROLLMENT 
 
• Director Brooks and Executive Secretary Yuill attended the open enrollment workshop 

presented by CIS in July which highlights changes and the required submittal requesting 
coverage.  CIS has added employee paid short-term disability option for the 2017 plan year 
which the City has elected to make available. 

• Open Enrollment for Health, Dental, Vision, Life, Disability and other applicable benefits is 
scheduled for October with CIS available for three employee sessions on October 6. 



 
 
 
 
BUDGET STATUS 
 
• Budget preparation began in December 2015 and culminated with budget meetings which 

began in April.  Fiscal Year 16-17 budgets were approved by Council prior to June 30, 2016 
and the budget was finalized for distribution and posting the first week of July. 

• The first quarter budget to actual report summary will be available at the October 3, 2016 
Council meeting, for the period July 1, 2016 through September 30, 2016. 

 
REPORTING AND FORMS 
 
• Medicare required reporting was completed in January, 2016 
• OSHA injury reports for 2015, were compiled and submitted to each department for proper 

posting.  The City recorded 21 work-related injuries and illnesses with 9 resulting in modified 
work assignments. As of August 31, 2016, 13 work-related reports have been filed. 

• Through June, 2016, the City received reimbursement in the amount of $4,887.85 for injured 
worker modification recovery.  This is compared to no recoveries in 2014 and 2015. Tools and 
equipment reimbursements, through June, have been $2,347.96 compared with zero 
reimbursements for 2014 and 2015. Approximately $3,000 in additional modification equipment 
has been requested since June. Wage recovery for returning workers to modified duties is 
$16,442.31, through June, 2016.   Annual amount of $9,782.99, in 2015, and $7,499.10 in 2014 
were recovered. 

• The City is currently able to exclude wages for worker compensation insurance coverage for 
two Preferred Worker Program eligible staff. 

• Required submittal for Worker Compensation Insurance Audit was completed with CIS in 
September, 2016. 

• Insurance valuations and coverage were reviewed and updated in May in anticipation of 
discussion with Propel in June and subsequent discussions with CIS for July 1, 2016 renewal. 
 

ELECTIONS 
 
• Information regarding Ward Boundaries and governing rules for revisions was requested by 

Councilor Herzig.  Information was gathered and reviewed to determine whether adjustments 
would be required and the timelines associated with changes.  In March there was less than 
2% deviation between Wards and current ward populations are well within the prescribed 
boundaries.  A subsequent meeting was held with City Manager and Councilor Herzig to 
explain the process and current status. 

• Council referred a Ballot Measure to impose city tax on retailer’s sale of recreational marijuana 
items.  This measure will be on the November 8, 2016 ballot for consideration by the voters. 

• Current terms for Ward 2 and Ward 4 Council positions end December 31, 2016.  Applicants 
could begin filing applications June 1, 2016 and a press release was distributed May 31, 2016.  
One applicant for Ward 2 and two applicants for Ward 4 will appear on the November Ballot.  
The City provided the County Elections Office with the required candidate notice on August 31, 
2016. 

 
CONFERENCES, SEMINARS AND MEETINGS 
 
• Director Brooks and Financial Analyst Snyder attended Oregon Basic Local Budget Law 

training in February. 
• CIS Risk Management provided review of best practices for City.  Items were noted for future 

enhancement and review of policies and practices based on input from CIS. 
• Director Brooks attended Bullard Law Annual Public Sector Symposium in April. 
• Director Brooks and Executive Secretary Yuill attended Election Training in May. 



 
 
 
 

• Director Brooks and Finance Operations Supervisor Dohaniuk attended a meeting with 
Community Development Director Cronin and Airbnb representatives about third party transient 
lodging tax (TLT) agreement.  The agreement would be similar to third party booking and 
collections by Expedia, Kayak, Priceline and others.  Attorney Henningsgaard has provided 
recommended adjustments to the agreement which Director Brooks will follow up on. 

• Director Brooks is participating in the certification committee for Oregon Governmental Finance 
Officer Association (OGFOA) and was accepted into the certification program in 2015.  Her first 
year training credits were all accepted towards her certification with OGFOA which has 
requirements across several competencies and multiple years of educational effort. 

 
HUMAN RESOURCES, JOB OPENINGS AND THE HIRING PROCESS 
 
• Oregon House Bill 3025 became effective January 1, 2016.  This legislation makes it unlawful 

for employers to exclude an applicant from an initial interview solely because of a past criminal 
conviction.  Our application form was updated in December, 2015 and necessary changes 
were implemented prior to January 1, 2016. 

• Effective January 1, 2016 Employers must provide up to 40 hours of sick leave per year to all 
employees.  Processes were implemented in January to accrue sick leave based on hours 
worked and to ensure compliance with the new requirements associated with Oregon Sick 
Leave  

• Oregon’s new minimum wage law was signed in March, 2016 and will be phased in over six 
years with different minimum wage levels based on areas of the state.  Astoria is part of the 
Standard Area and recognized minimum wage of $9.75 / hour as of July 1, 2016.  Increases of 
$.50 / hour will continue through July, 2022 at the rate of $13.50 / hour.  Beginning in 2023 
rates will be adjusted based on Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers. 

• The online application system, ApplicantPool, was upgraded in December, 2015 and fully 
transitioned in January.  Posting managers and users have been trained and continuing 
support has been provided by Director Brooks and Executive Secretary Yuill.  The upgraded 
system interfaces with INDEED which is an online job search web based program.  
ApplicantPool provides our job postings to the INDEED job board, at no additional cost to the 
City, and assists in broadening outreach for job candidates. INDEED and the upgraded City 
application are available to use via mobile devices. 

• Recruitment of a part-time Human Resources administrative assistant is in progress. 
• We anticipate spending time reviewing the first six months of available matrix data through the 

ApplicantPool software in coming months.  Information should allow us to better understand 
demographics and provide information to improve the recruitment targets.  We hope to roll out 
additional training regarding recruiting options and tools after an administrative assistant 
recruited. 

• Took over the criminal background check process through the Department of Human 
Resources for Lil’ Sprouts employees.  Director Brooks is registered agent to process and 
receive records. 

• Review and enhancement of the orientation process continues. 
 

By:  
Director of Finance and 
Administrative Services 



 
 
 

CITY OF ASTORIA 
   Founded 1811 ● Incorporated 1856 
 
 
 

 
September 23, 2016 
 
M E M O R A N D U M 
 
TO: MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

FROM:  BRETT ESTES, CITY MANAGER 
 

SUBJECT: ASTORIA FIRE DEPARTMENT ACTIVITY AND STATUS  REPORT 
 

 

 
August, 2016 Emergency Response Activity - 
The Astoria Fire Department responded to 115 emergency requests for service during 
the month of August, 2016. The department responded to 60 EMS (emergency medical 
services) calls, 10 motor vehicle crashes, 5 reportable fires and 40 service calls. Service 
calls include alarm activations with no fire, false alarms, hazardous conditions, good 
intent calls, public assists, etc. 

 
Of the 115 total calls for service in August, 33 involved response by our volunteer 
firefighters. Our volunteers respond to all fire related calls, alarm activations, motor 
vehicle crashes occurring on the Megler and  New Young's  Bay Bridge and any other 
call for service requiring extra assistance. The availability of volunteers for response is 
largely dependent on the time of day do to work schedules. For that reason, we track 
when calls for volunteer response occur each month. In August, 67% or 22 of the 
volunteer  calls were during daytime hours between 6:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m. The   other 
11 calls or 33% were during  the  night  between  6:00  p.m.  and  6:00  a.m.  An 
average of two (2) volunteers responded per call throughout the month. 

 
August, 2016 Training - 
The department held five (5) regularly scheduled Wednesday evening training sessions 
during the month of August. Wednesday evening drills generally start at 7:00 p.m. and 
run until 10:00 p.m. and are attended by the volunteers, the student interns, the career 
personnel who are on duty, the Deputy Chief and me. EMS continuing education is 
normally scheduled on the first Wednesday of each month along with the Volunteer 
Association's monthly business meeting. 

 

Aug. 3 
 
 

Aug. 10 
 

Aug. 17 
 

Aug. 24 

EMS Training - Hands-on patient assessment and care scenarios 
Monthly Volunteer Association Business Meeting 

 
Fire Ground Operations - Hands-on Scenarios 

 
Fire Ground Operations - Hands-on Scenarios at North Tongue Point 

Fire Ground Operations & Pumper Operator Task Scenarios 































 

 
CITY OF ASTORIA 
   Founded 1811 ● Incorporated 1856 
 
 

 
 
September 23, 2016 
 
 
M E M O R A N D U M 
 
TO: MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

FROM:  BRETT ESTES, CITY MANAGER 
 
SUBJECT: AUTHORIZATION TO AWARD CONTRACT TO ARBORPRO INC. FOR 

TREE INVENTORY AND CONDITION SERVICES IN ASTORIA PARKS 
AND OPEN SPACES 

 
DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS 
 
The City of Astoria’s Parks and Recreation Department oversees 310 acres of park land 
and open space and maintains a wide variety of native and exotic tree species. In the 
past year the Parks and Recreation Department removed 14 trees and spent $21,620 
on pruning and/or removal of hazardous trees.  
 
When trees fall into a hazardous state they no longer provide the positive financial and 
environmental aspects of; cleaning the air we breathe, providing oxygen, preventing soil 
erosion, providing shade, increasing property values, reducing stress, and providing a 
habitat for wildlife. Contrary, trees that became hazardous or in a dead, diseased or 
dangerous state turn a park into a dangerous place to recreate and have caused 
damage to park amenities and to the property of neighboring property owners. 
 
The loss of these trees and the damage caused by them could have been prevented if 
the trees would have received proper care and maintenance. To accomplish this, the 
Parks Department desires to increase its knowledge and tracking ability of the trees it is 
responsible for maintaining.  Knowing the high value that trees as natural resources 
provides communities and that the City of Astoria strives to provide positive and healthy 
environments for its citizens. To serve both the purpose of tracking the health and types 
of trees located within the City’s parks properties in order to best care for and maintain 
them, and to help promote and enhance the benefits trees provide to the community, a 
comprehensive inventory of tree species, health, size, and location must be carried out. 
 
During the 2016-2017 fiscal year budget process City Council allocated $30,000 to 
inventory the trees managed by the Parks and Recreation Department. This inventory 
would develop an index of the type, condition, size, location, health, and potential 
hazards for all individual trees in the parks and open spaces managed by the 
Department.  



 

Completing a tree inventory also aligns with the Parks and Recreation Comprehensive 
Master Plan.  Through the Parks Master Planning process, citizen outreach has strongly 
indicated that trees in Astoria Parks are of high importance.  This valuation is reflected 
in feedback from park users who desire a high level of care and maintenance dedicated 
to tree species.  In section 6.2 of the 2016 Parks Master Plan, Developing a Parks and 
Facilities Maintenance Plan is listed as a recommendation.  Any Parks Maintenance 
plan must take into account the current trees in a given park and their future growth 
potential. Due to the wide variety and locations of tree species in our parks and open 
spaces, the most efficient method of obtaining a complete tree inventory is to contract a 
reputable arbor care company that is experienced in producing such reports.   
 
During the August 1, 2016 City Council meeting, Council authorized the Parks and 
Recreation Department to Request Proposals (RFP) for the Tree Inventory and 
Condition report. The Parks and Recreation Department solicited and received proposals 
for 30 days, ending on September 2nd, 2016.  
 
To review and evaluate the proposals, an evaluation committee consisting of; Valerie 
Grant with Oregon State University Forestry, and Natural Resources Extension Office, 
Ron Zilli with the Oregon Department of Forestry, and Jonah Dart-McLean with Parks 
and Recreation Department, studied, scored, and discussed each proposal. As identified 
in the RFP, proposals were evaluated and scored with equal weighting in each in the 
areas of; quality of proposal, methodology, vendor qualifications/references, and cost.  
 
Proposals were received from three companies with the following rankings and bids:  
 

Company Review Committees 
Ranking Bid 

ArborPro Inc. 1st  $27,000  
Davey Resource Group 2nd  $28,586  
Arbor Care Inc. 3rd  $38,989  
 
After evaluation of the three proposals, it was determined that ArborPro’s proposal and 
price best suited the Park’s Department’s goals and would provide the most 
comprehensive services for this project.  ArborPro will provide the following information 
about all individual Parks trees: 

 
• Scientific (Genus, Species) and common name 
• Type (deciduous, conifer) 
• Condition 
• DBH (diameter at breast height) 
• Height 
• Canopy Spread 
• Location (latitude/longitude) 
• Proximity to Assets/Forecasted Growth Issues 
• Documentation of any present tree disease/parasite/threat 
• Tree Health Management Recommendation 
• Photo (capturing typical foliage) 
• Map of Trees Within Each Property Location 



 

 
High density tree locations with homogeneity of species or large locations where 
individual inventorying is not feasible, may be inventoried as a plot of trees with the 
following criteria: 
 

• Percentage of each tree species present 
• Average height, age, DBH, in plot by species 
• Overall health of tree stand/plot – identification/description of any endemic 

disease/parasite that may threaten stand health 
• Description of any potential hazards to infrastructure in stand 
• Map of stand sampled 

 
ArborPro will also provide the City with access to their proprietary tree inventory 
management software at no extra cost.   
 
The attached contract has been reviewed and approved as to form by City Attorney 
Henningsgaard.   
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that Council approve the tree inventory and condition survey contract 
with ArborPro Inc. in the amount of $27,000.  There are funds allocated for this work in 
the 2016-2017 Capital Improvement Fund. 
 
 
 
      By:  _________________________ 
 Angela Cosby  
 Director of Parks & Recreation 



 
CITY OF ASTORIA 

CONTRACT FOR GOODS AND SERVICES 
 
CONTRACT: 
 
This Contract, made and entered into this ____day of _________, 2016 by and between the City of Astoria, a 
municipal corporation of the State of Oregon, hereinafter called "CITY", and ArborPro Inc., located at 22605 E. 
La Palma Ave, Suite 509 Yorba Linda, CA 92817, hereinafter called "CONTRACTOR", duly authorized to do 
business in Oregon. 
 

W I T N E S S E T H 
 
WHEREAS, the CITY requires goods and services which CONTRACTOR is capable of providing, under terms 
and conditions hereinafter described; and  
 
WHEREAS, CONTRACTOR is able and prepared to provide such goods and services as CITY does 
hereinafter require, under those terms and conditions set forth; now, therefore, 
 
IN CONSIDERATION of those mutual promises and the terms and conditions set forth hereafter, the parties 
agree as follows: 
 
1. CONTRACTOR GOODS AND SERVICES 
 
 A. CONTRACTOR shall provide goods and services for the City of Astoria, as outlined in 

its Attachment A, which by this reference is incorporated herein. 
 
 B. CONTRACTOR'S obligations are defined solely by this Contract and its attachment and 

not by any other contract or agreement that may be associated with this project. 
 
 C. CONTRACTOR services shall be performed as expeditiously as is consistent with 

professional skill and the orderly progress of work.   
 
2. COMPENSATION 
 

A. The CITY agrees to pay CONTRACTOR a total not to exceed $27,000 for providing goods and 
performance of those services provided herein;  

 
B. The CONTRACTOR will submit billing for work at benchmarks of 75% and 100% completion of the total 

project. 
 

C. CITY certifies that sufficient funds are available and authorized for expenditure to finance costs of this 
Contract. 

 
3. CONTRACTOR IDENTIFICATION 
 
 CONTRACTOR shall furnish to the CITY the CONTRACTOR'S employer identification number, as 

designated by the Internal Revenue Service, or CONTRACTOR'S Social Security number, as CITY 
deems applicable. 

 
4. CITY'S REPRESENTATIVE 
 

For purposes hereof, the CITY'S authorized representative will be Jonah Dart-McLean, City of Astoria, 
1095 Duane Street, Astoria, Oregon, 97103, (503) 741-1600. 



 
5. CONTRACTOR'S REPRESENTATIVE  
 

For purposes hereof, the CONTRACTOR'S authorized representative will be Keith Henning, ArborPro 
Inc., 22605 E. La Palma Ave, Suite 509 Yorba Linda, CA 92817, (714) 694-1724 

 
6. CITY'S OBLIGATIONS 
 

In order to facilitate the work of the CONTRACTOR as above outlined, the CITY shall furnish to the 
CONTRACTOR access to all relevant site information which is in the City's possession concerning the 
project area.  In addition, the CITY shall act as liaison for the CONTRACTOR, assisting the 
CONTRACTOR with making contacts and facilitating meetings, as necessary. 

 
7. CONTRACTOR IS INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 
 

A. CONTRACTOR’S services shall be provided under the general supervision of City’s project 
director or his designee, but CONTRACTOR shall be an independent CONTRACTOR for all purposes 
and shall be entitled to no compensation other that the compensation provided for under Section 2 of 
this Contract, 
 
B. CONTRACTOR acknowledges that for all purposes related to this contract, CONTRACTOR is 
and shall be deemed to be an independent CONTRACTOR and not an employee of the CITY, shall not 
be entitled to benefits of any kind to which an employee of the CITY is entitled and shall be solely 
responsible for all payments and taxes required by law; and furthermore in the event that 
CONTRACTOR is found by a court of law or an administrative agency to be an employee of the CITY 
for any purpose, CITY shall be entitled to offset compensation due, or, to demand repayment of any 
amounts paid to CONTRACTOR under the terms of the contract, to the full extent of any benefits or 
other remuneration CONTRACTOR receives (from CITY or third party) as result of said finding and to 
the full extent of any payments that CITY is required to make (to CONTRACTOR or a third party) as a 
result of said finding. 
 
C. The undersigned CONTRACTOR hereby represents that no employee of the City of Astoria, or 
any partnership or corporation in which a City of Astoria employee has an interest, has or will receive 
any remuneration of any description from the CONTRACTOR, either directly or indirectly, in connection 
with the letting or performance of this contract, except as specifically declared in writing. 

 
8. CANCELLATION FOR CAUSE  
 

CITY may cancel all or any part of this Contract if CONTRACTOR breaches any of the terms herein or 
in the event of any of the following: Insolvency of CONTRACTOR; voluntary or involuntary petition in 
bankruptcy by or against CONTRACTOR; appointment of a receiver or trustee for CONTRACTOR, or 
any assignment for benefit of creditors of CONTRACTOR.  Damages for breach shall be those allowed 
by Oregon law, reasonable and necessary attorney's fees, and other costs of litigation at trial and upon 
appeal.  CONTRACTOR may likewise cancel all or any part of this contract if CITY breaches any of the 
terms herein and be therefore entitled to equivalent damages as expressed above for CITY. 

 
9. ACCESS TO RECORDS 
 

CITY shall have access to such books, documents, papers and records of contract as are directly 
pertinent to this contract for the purposes of making audit, examination, excerpts and transcripts. 

 
10. FORCE MAJEURE 
 

Neither CITY nor CONTRACTOR shall be considered in default because of any delays in completion of 
responsibilities hereunder due to causes beyond the control and without fault or negligence on the part 



of the party so disenabled provided the party so disenabled shall within ten (10) days from the 
beginning such delay notify the other party in writing of the causes of delay and its probable extent.  
Such notification shall not be the basis for a claim for additional compensation. 

   
11. NONWAIVER 
 

The failure of the CITY to insist upon or enforce strict performance by CONTRACTOR of any of the 
terms of this Contract or to exercise any rights hereunder shall not be construed as a waiver or 
relinquishment to any extent of its right to assert or rely upon such terms or rights on any future 
occasion. 

 
12. ATTORNEY'S FEES 
 

In the event suit or action is instituted to enforce any of the terms of this contract, the prevailing party 
shall be entitled to recover from the other party such sum as the court may adjudge reasonable as 
attorney's fees at trial or on appeal of such suit or action, in addition to all other sums provided by law. 

 
13. APPLICABLE LAW 
 

The law of the State of Oregon shall govern the validity of this Agreement, its interpretation and 
performance, and any other claims related to it. 
 

14. CONFLICT BETWEEN TERMS 
 

It is further expressly agreed by and between the parties hereto that should there be any conflict 
between the terms of this instrument and the proposal of the CONTRACTOR, this instrument shall 
control and nothing herein shall be considered as an acceptance of the said terms of said proposal 
conflicting herewith. 

 
15. INDEMNIFICATION 
 

With regard to Comprehensive General Liability, CONTRACTOR agrees to indemnify and hold 
harmless the City of Astoria, its Officers, and Employees against and from any and all loss, claims, 
actions, suits, reasonable defense costs, attorney fees and expenses for or on account of injury, bodily 
or otherwise to, or death of persons, damage to or destruction of property belonging to city, contractor, 
or others resulting from or arising out of CONTRACTOR’S negligent acts, errors or omissions in 
services pursuant to this Agreement. This agreement to indemnify applies whether such claims are 
meritorious or not; provided, however, that if any such liability, settlements, loss, defense costs or 
expenses result from the concurrent negligence of CONTRACTOR and The City of Astoria this 
indemnification and agreement to assume defense costs applies only to the extent of the negligence or 
alleged negligence of the CONTRACTOR. 

 
With regard to Professional Liability, CONTRACTOR agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the City of 
Astoria, its Officers and Employees from any and all liability, settlements, loss, reasonable defense 
costs, attorney fees and expenses arising out of CONTRACTOR’S negligent acts, errors or omissions 
in service provided pursuant to this Agreement; provided, however, that if any such liability, settlements, 
loss, defense costs or expenses result from the concurrent negligence of CONTRACTOR and the 
Client, this indemnification and agreement to assume defense costs applies only to the extent of 
negligence of CONTRACTOR. 

 
With respect to Commercial Liability and Professional Liability, CONTRACTOR reserves the right to 
approve the choice of counsel. 

  



16.  INSURANCE  

Prior to starting work hereunder, CONSULTANT, at CONSULTANT'S cost, shall secure and 
continue to carry during the term of this contract, with an insurance company acceptable to CITY, 
the following insurance, written on an occurrence basis, in amounts not less than the limitations on 
liability for local public bodies provided in ORS 30.272 and ORS 30.273:  

A. Commercial General Liability. CONSULTANT shall obtain, at CONSULTANT’S expense and keep 
in effect during the term of this Contract, Commercial General Liability Insurance covering bodily 
injury and property damage. Coverage shall include consultants, sub-consultants and anyone 
directly or indirectly employed by either.  

B. Automobile Liability. CONSULTANT shall obtain, at CONSULTANT’S expense and keep in effect 
during the term of the resulting contract, Commercial Business Automobile Liability Insurance 
covering all owned, non-owned, or hired vehicles. This coverage may be written in combination with 
the Commercial General Liability Insurance (with separate limits).  

C. Additional Insured. The liability insurance coverage shall include CITY and its officers and 
employees as Additional Insured but only with respect to CONSULTANT’S activities to be performed 
under this Contract. Coverage will be primary and non-contributory with any other insurance and 
self-insurance. Prior to starting work under this Contract, CONSULTANT shall furnish a certificate to 
CITY from each insurance company providing insurance showing that the CITY is an additional 
insured, the required coverage is in force, stating policy numbers, dates of expiration and limits of 
liability, and further stating that such coverage is primary and not contributory.  

D. Professional Liability Insurance. The CONTRATOR shall have in force a policy of Professional 
Liability Insurance. The CONTRATOR shall keep such policy in force and current during the term of 
this contract. 
 
E. Notice of Cancellation or Change. There will be no cancellation, material change, 
potential exhaustion of aggregate limits or non-renewal of insurance coverage(s) without thirty (30) 
days written notice from CONSULTANT or its insurer(s) to CITY. Any failure to comply with the 
reporting provisions of this clause will constitute a material breach of this Contract and will be 
grounds for immediate termination of this Agreement.   
 

17. CITY'S BUSINESS LICENSE 
 

Prior to beginning work, the CONTRACTOR shall have a current City of Astoria business license 
(occupational tax).  Before permitting a subcontractor to begin work, CONTRACTOR shall verify that 
subcontractor has a current City of Astoria business license. 

 
18.  WORKMEN'S COMPENSATION 

 
The CONTRACTOR, its subcontractors, if any, and all employers working under this Agreement are 
either subject employers under the Oregon Workers' Compensation Law and shall comply with ORS 
656.017, which requires them to provide workers' compensation coverage for all their subject workers, 
or are employers that are exempt under ORS 656.126. 

 
19. LABORERS AND MATERIALMEN, CONTRIBUTIONS TO INDUSTRIAL ACCIDENT FUND, LIENS 

AND WITHHOLDING TAXES 
 

Contractor shall make payment promptly, as due, to all persons supplying CONTRACTOR labor or 
material for the prosecution of the work provided for this contract. 
 



Contractor shall pay all contributions or amounts due the Industrial Accident Fund from 
CONTRACTOR or any subcontractor incurred in the performance of the contract. 
 
Contractor shall not permit any lien or claim to be filed or prosecuted against the state, county, 
school district, municipality, municipal corporation or subdivision thereof, on account of any labor or 
material furnished. 
 
Contractor shall pay to the Department of Revenue all sums withheld from employees pursuant to 
ORS 316.167. 

 
20.   NONDISCRIMINATION 
 

 It is the policy of the City of Astoria that no person shall be denied the benefits of or be 
subjected to discrimination in any City program, service, or activity on the grounds of age, 
disability, race, religion, color, national origin, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity and 
expression. The City of Astoria also requires its contractors and grantees to comply with this 
policy. 

 
21. PAYMENT OF MEDICAL CARE 
 

Contractor shall promptly, as due, make payment to any person, copartnership, association or 
corporation, furnishing medical, surgical and hospital care or other needed care and attention, 
incident to sickness or injury to the employees of such CONTRACTOR, of all sums which the 
CONTRACTOR agrees to pay for such services and all moneys and sums which the 
CONTRACTOR collected or deducted from the wages of employees pursuant to any law, contract or 
agreement for the purpose of providing or paying for such service.   

 
22. OVERTIME 
 

Employees shall be paid for overtime work performed under this contract in accordance with ORS 
653.010 to 653.261 and the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938 (29 U.S.C. sections 201 to 209). 

 
23. STANDARD OF CARE  
 

The standard of care applicable to contractor's services will be the degree of skill and diligence normally 
employed by contractors performing the same or similar services at the time CONTRACTOR’S services 
are performed.  CONTRACTOR will re-perform any services not meeting this standard without 
additional compensation. 

 
24. NO THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES 
 

This contract gives no rights or benefits to anyone other than the CITY and CONTRACTOR and has no 
third party beneficiaries. 

 
25. SEVERABILITY AND SURVIVAL 
 

If any of the provisions contained in this Agreement are held illegal, invalid or unenforceable, the 
enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not be impaired thereby.  Limitations of liability shall 
survive termination of this Agreement for any cause. 

 
  





Attachment A 
 

Description of Services 

ArborPro, Inc. (Contractor) will conduct a comprehensive GPS-based tree inventory to assist the City of 
Astoria (City) in proactively managing its urban forest within the park system. 
 

Contractor will collect and provide the following information on all individual trees: 
 

 Scientific (Genus, Species) and common name 

 Type (deciduous, conifer) 

 Condition 

 DBH (diameter at breast height) 

 Height 

 Canopy Spread 

 Location (latitude/longitude) 

 Proximity to Assets/Forecasted Growth Issues 

 Documentation of any present tree disease/parasite/threat 

 Tree Health Management Recommendation 

 Photo (capturing typical foliage) 

 Map of Trees Within Each Property Location 
 

High density tree locations with homogeneity of species or large locations where individual inventorying is 
not feasible, may be inventoried as a plot of trees with the following criteria: 
 

 Percentage of each tree species present 

 Average height, age, DBH, in plot by species 

 Overall health of tree stand/plot – identification/description of any endemic disease/parasite that may 
threaten stand health 

 Description of any potential hazards to infrastructure in stand 

 Map of stand sampled 
 
Stands to be sampled will be of one (1) plot per five (5) acres with a plot size of 1/10th of an acre.  In the case 
of stands that are less than 5 acres, stands will be divided into polygons and data will be provided for each 
polygon within the stand. 
 
Prior to using sampling methods vs. individual data collection at any site, approval must be obtained from 
the City to ensure that all desired individual trees are surveyed and included in the inventory. 
 

Tree Rating Criteria 

Below is the standard tree condition assessment to be utilized.  With regard to hazardous trees, ISA Tree 
Risk Assessment criteria will be utilized. 
 
Excellent – The tree is near perfect condition, this determination is generally used for trees with no defects 
and young trees that have been properly maintained. 
Very Good – The tree is in very good condition with very minor defects that could be corrected by pruning. 
These trees generally “stand out” with respect to the aesthetic value they add to the Urban Forest. 
Good – The tree has no major structural problems; no significant damage from diseases or pests; no 
significant mechanical damage; a full, balanced crown, and normal twig condition and vigor for its species. 
Fair – The tree may exhibit the following characteristics: minor structural problems and/or mechanical 
damage; significant damage from non-fatal or disfiguring diseases; minor crown imbalance or thin crown; 
minor structural imbalance; or stunted growth compared to adjacent trees. 
Poor – The tree appears healthy, but may have structural defects. This classification also includes healthy 
trees that have unbalanced structures or have been topped. Trees in this category may also have severe 
mechanical damage, decay, severe crown dieback or poor vigor/failure to thrive. 



Dead – Trees in advanced states of decline are not included. This category refers only to dead trees. 
Critical – The tree is in a physical state that requires immediate attention. Generally these trees are 
recommended for a Priority One Removal. 

 
Pre-Job meeting 

Prior to commencement of the project, Contractor will meet with designated staff from the City to determine 
and agree upon project standards, review the scope of work and identify the criteria for evaluating and 
documenting the City’s Urban Forest requirements. 
 

Data Collection 

Utilizing GIS tablet computers and GeoXH Trimble GPS units; Contractor will collect data directly into the 
ArborPro Software Suite, a custom-designed GIS software program, and review the data on a daily basis. 
 

Progress Meetings & Reports 

A weekly progress report will be prepared for the City the first day of each work week. This report will 
include detailed maps of the parks that have been completed, metrics, and a complete listing of the trees 
surveyed the previous week as well as projections for the following week. All action items from previous 
meetings will be addressed and new action items created if needed. 
 

Deliverables 

Contractor will provide the City of Astoria with all the data collected in two (2) hard copy reports and a digital 
copy with Excel spreadsheets containing all collected data, images and all maps of tree locations. The 
project will be summarized into a 10-15 minute visual presentation and presented to the Parks & Recreation 
Advisory Board during a regularly scheduled meeting and the Astoria City Council during a regularly 
scheduled meeting.  Contractor will also provide the City with a license of ArborPro (tree inventory 
management program) in the first week of the project at no extra cost. 
 

Timeline 
All work will be completed and invoiced prior to June 30, 2017 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Locations to be inventoried and surveyed are included as Attachment B to this document. 
  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment B 
Locations to be included in survey and inventory 

 
 
 



A1 . 2DRAFT 
6/27/2016

14th & Grand Playground
0.38 acres

Description:
Community playground with updated play 
structures, a basketball half-court, and a picnic 
area. This park is highly used by the neighbors of 
the park and is only three blocks from Downtown 
Astoria

Regular Maintenance:
Mowing, weed-eating 1x week, empty garbage 2x week, regular cleaning, inspection, and repair of 
playground equipment.

Needed Maintenance:
Add fence on west side of park to prevent balls rolling downhill, replace swing set, add fence on north side 
of park, replace playground chips

Condition:  Good
Address:  14th & Grand
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 5DRAFT 
6/27/2016

9th & Astor Park
0.13 acres

Description:
Small irrigated grass area located next to the 
Riverwalk, 9th Street Trolley Stop, and Astoria 
Transit Center. The site was purchased by the City 
in 1998 and later converted to a park. Grant funds 
helped install a Robert Murase-designed concrete 
plaza with benches, which was later demolished 
and removed by the City. In 2013, the site was 
graded and irrigated, and planted with grass. The 
grant agreement stipulates use of the land as a 
park with specific amenities.

Regular Maintenance:
Mowing, weed-eating 1x week, empty garbage 2x week

Needed Maintenance:
Poor drainage, improve turf

Condition:  Poor
Address:  9th & Astor
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 6DRAFT 
6/27/2016

Alameda Park
0.11 acres

Description:
Small playground with benches and covered 
picnic table in a grass area overlooking the 
Columbia River and Megler Bridge

Regular Maintenance:
Mowing, weed-eating 1x week, empty garbage 2x week, regular cleaning, inspection, and repair of 
playground equipment.

Needed Maintenance:
Replace playground chips, remove over-pruned trees, update play structures

Condition:  Fair
Address:  Alameda & Melbourne
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 7DRAFT 
6/27/2016

Alameda Park Reserve
0.67 acres

Description:
Open grass area reserved for use as a 
neighborhood pocket park, currently maintained 
by neighbors.

Regular Maintenance:
None

Needed Maintenance:
None

Condition:  Good
Address:  Alameda & Cumberland
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 8DRAFT 
6/27/2016

Alderbrook Natural Area
13.3 acres

Description:
Large natural area at the eastern terminus of  
the River Walk. The park can be accessed from 
the River Walk or a small parking lot at Alder 
St and Lagoon Rd. The North Coast Watershed 
Association, North Coast Land Conservancy, 
and neighbors of the park are active in invasive 
species removal and native replanting.

Regular Maintenance:
Mow 1x year

Needed Maintenance:
Better control of invasive/noxious plant species

Condition:  Fair
Address:  53rd & Alder
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 9DRAFT 
6/27/2016

Alderbrook Park
0.62 acres

Description:
Small neighborhood pocket park with a 
playground, covered picnic table, basketball 
half-court, small grass area, and community hall 
available for rentals.

Regular Maintenance:
Mowing, weed-eating 1x week, empty garbage 2x week, regular cleaning, inspection, and repair of 
playground equipment.

Needed Maintenance:
Outdated play equipment, Basketball court weeds, Repaint bball, back border of park has derelict building 
encroaching, replace playground chips

Condition:  Poor
Address:  45th & Leif Erickson
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 10DRAFT 
6/27/2016

ARC Grounds
3.5 acres

Description:
Waterfront property on Youngs Bay that includes 
the Astoria Recreation Center, Parks and Facilities 
Maintenance Shops, and Youngs Bay Marine Park. 
There is a large parking lot, two picnic shelters, 
and a playground area with basketball half-court 
installed in 2014.

Regular Maintenance:
Mowing, weed-eating 1x week, garbage 2x week, maintenance of parking lot and lights, regular cleaning, 
inspection, and repair of playground equipment.

Needed Maintenance:
Repair picnic shelters, organize parking lot for maximum use of space, pave parking lot, eradicate invasive 
weeds

Condition:  Poor
Address:  1555 W Marine Dr
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 11DRAFT 
6/27/2016

Astor Park
37.5 acres

Description:
Home of the 125-ft tall Astoria Column, Astor Park 
is a destination for visitors and locals, providing 
parking, a gift shop, restrooms, picnic areas, 
trailheads, and stunning views of Astoria and its 
surroundings. The irrigated grounds are operated 
and maintained by the Friends of the Astoria 
Column.

Regular Maintenance:
Maintenance is currently carried out by a caretaker with the Friends of the Astoria Column.

Needed Maintenance:
None

Condition:  Fair
Address:  1 Coxcomb Dr
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 13DRAFT 
6/27/2016

Birch Field & Park
0.96 acres

Description:
Grass ball field with bases and backstop. The park 
is often visited by the neighbors for general use 
and dog walking.

Regular Maintenance:
Mowing, weed-eating 1x week

Needed Maintenance:
Poor drainage, bases overgrown

Condition:  Poor
Address:  49th & Birch
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 14DRAFT 
6/27/2016

Children’s Park Playground
0.23 acres

Description:
Popular downtown playground with an updated 
play structure, basketball half-court, swing set, 
picnic tables and fenced-in grass area with dog 
waste bags.

Regular Maintenance:
Mowing, weed-eating 1x week, empty garbage 2x week, regular cleaning, inspection, and repair of 
playground equipment.

Needed Maintenance:
Play structure needs power washing, play structure will need to be replaced in near future, replace 
playground chips

Condition:  Fair
Address:  6th & Commercial
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 15DRAFT 
6/27/2016

Columbia Fields
2.9 acres

Description:
Multi-use park with two ball fields, tennis courts, 
and a large grass area, used by multiple area 
sports programs. Gravel parking lot, concession 
stand, dugouts, and bleachers. The facility is 
owned by the Astoria School District. Use by the 
Parks and Recreation Department is provided 
at no cost in exchange for maintenance and 
operations of the site.

Regular Maintenance:
Mowing, weed-eating 1x week, garbage 2x week, field preparation during periods of high use.

Needed Maintenance:
Improve Columbia North Field infield, replace bleachers in east field, reseal tennis court, add lights for 
night use, improve turf

Condition:  Poor
Address:  35th & Leif Erickson
Owner:  Astoria School District



A1 . 17DRAFT 
6/27/2016

Customs House
0.5 acres

Description:
A small irrigated landscaped area with 
interpretive signs surrounding a reconstruction of 
Astoria’s first Customs House.

Regular Maintenance:
Mowing, weed-eating 1x week

Needed Maintenance:
Weed eradication; structure repairs; replacement of interpretive panels.

Condition:  Fair
Address:  35th & Leif Erickson
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 19DRAFT 
6/27/2016

Evergreen Fields
11.7 acres

Description:
Large, irrigated neighborhood park with two 
softball fields, a large open grass area, three sand 
volleyball courts, restrooms, and a concession 
stand. Used by Parks department youth and adult 
sport leagues, as well as high school athletic 
programs.

Regular Maintenance:
Mowing and weed-eating 1x week, emptying garbage 2x week, cleaning and maintaining restrooms,field 
preparation during periods of high-use

Needed Maintenance:
Improve baseball field infields, poor drainage on both fields, weeds in sand volleyball area, improve turf

Condition:  Poor
Address:  Astoria Middle School
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 20DRAFT 
6/27/2016

Fort Astoria Park
0.14 acres

Description:
A downtown historical site with scenic mural and 
replica of the original Fort Astoria, an irrigated 
grass area, dog waste bags, and interpretive signs.

Regular Maintenance:
Mowing, weed-eating 1x week, weeding flower beds 1x month, garbage 2x weeks

Needed Maintenance:
Weeds in flower beds

Condition:  Good
Address:  15th & Exchange
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 21DRAFT 
6/27/2016

Fred Lindstrom Park
1.9 acres

Description:
Popular neighborhood park with a large 
playground, two tennis courts, a basketball full-
court, picnic tables, benches, and open grass 
areas.

Regular Maintenance:
Mowing, weed-eating 1x week, garbage 2x week

Needed Maintenance:
Power wash play structure, update/replace play structure, replace playground chips, install picnic shelter; 
install permanent restroom facility

Condition:  Fair
Address:  7th & Niagara
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 22DRAFT 
6/27/2016

Gray School Recreation Complex
1 acres

Description:
Large fenced-in grass field with fence and 
backstop, and semi-covered outdoor playground 
adjacent to Port of Play, Lil’ Sprouts Academy, and 
the Community Gardens.

Regular Maintenance:
Mowing, weed-eating 1x week

Needed Maintenance:
Remove invasive weeds, improve infield on baseball field, repair fence

Condition:  Poor
Address:  Alameda & Chinook
Owner:  Astoria School District



A1 . 23DRAFT 
6/27/2016

Heritage Square / Garden of Surging Waves
1.25 acres

Description:
An urban plaza with seating, hardscaping, 
irrigated landscaping, and sculptural elements 
commemorating the culture, challenges, and 
contribution of Chinese immigrants to Astoria and 
the Pacific Northwest.

Regular Maintenance:
Weeding 1x / two weeks, 2x checks for garbage on grounds

Needed Maintenance:
Eradicate noxious weeds, manage/prune plantings

Condition:  Fair
Address:  11th & Duane
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 24DRAFT 
6/27/2016

Maritime Memorial
0.24 acres

Description:
Riverside park with a granite memorial wall, 
irrigated landscaping, historic fresh water 
fountain, walkway and picnic area.

Regular Maintenance:
Weeding flower beds 1x month. Portions of the park are maintained by the Holiday Inn Express.

Needed Maintenance:
Eradicate invasive weeds in flower beds, simplify plantings on grounds

Condition:  Good
Address:  Bay St & Marine Dr
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 25DRAFT 
6/27/2016

McClure Park
0.92 acres

Description:
A nighborhood pocket park with a backstop, open 
grass area, swing set, seating, picnic tables, and 
dog waste bags overlooking downtown Astoria 
and the Columbia River. The Friends of McClure 
Park have adopted the site and are working on 
improving landscape features and adding new 
play equipment.

Regular Maintenance:
Mowing, weed-eating 1x week, empty garbage 2x week

Needed Maintenance:
Improve turf, re-evaluate use of swings, potential site for restroom/picnic shelter, replace playground chips; 
stabilize and rebuild north-facing retaining wall

Condition:  Poor
Address:  8th & Grand
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 26DRAFT 
6/27/2016

Mill Pond Park
0.29 acres

Description:
Small waterfront landscaped area with picnic 
tables and a gazebo.

Regular Maintenance:
Currently, maintenance is carried out by private contractor through HOA

Needed Maintenance:
None

Condition:  Excellent
Address:  23rd & Mill Pond Ln
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 27DRAFT 
6/27/2016

Ocean View Cemetery
100 acres

Description:
Historic cemetery located in Warrenton, Oregon 
that includes about 16,000 burial plots, a chapel, 
mausoleum, maintenance facility, and scenic 
location.

Regular Maintenance:
Mowing 1x week, emptying garbage cans 1x month, trimming of tree limbs as needed. Half of the cemetery 
grounds are irrigated, but the system is unused due to high costs.

Needed Maintenance:
Improve turf, maintain gravesites, remove illegal plantings/grounds additions, replace/add wayfinding 
signs, replace wooden fence with low-maintenance structure, improve irrigation, eradicate invasive weeds

Condition:  Poor
Address:  18th & Whiskey Rd, Warrenton
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 28DRAFT 
6/27/2016

People’s Park
0.41 acres

Description:
Open grass area adjacent to the River Walk 
with parking, dog waste bags, and views of the 
Columbia River. A wooden viewing deck was 
removed in 2016 due to poor structural conditions.

Regular Maintenance:
Mowing, weed-eating 1x week, garbage 2x week

Needed Maintenance:
Remove platform, remove hedge along sidewalk and excessive bushes in park, improve turf

Condition:  Poor
Address:  16th & Marine
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 29DRAFT 
6/27/2016

Pioneer Cemetery
2.1 acres

Description:
A decommissioned historic cemetery with grass 
areas, trees, and headstones. A wooden perimeter 
fence is scheduled to be removed due to poor 
conditions. The park is often visited by neighbors 
for general use and dog walking.

Regular Maintenance:
Mowing, weed-eating 1x week

Needed Maintenance:
Replace wooden fence with lower-maintenance structure, address erosion on east side of park, stabilize 
headstones, clean headstones, trim/remove trees; repair crypt

Condition:  Fair
Address:  15th & Niagara
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 30DRAFT 
6/27/2016

Post Office Park
0.11 acres

Description:
A small grass area near downtown with a river 
view and monument commemorating the original 
location of the first post office site west of the 
Rocky Mountains.

Regular Maintenance:
Mowing, weed-eating 1x week

Needed Maintenance:
Add amenities to park for more positive use, clean obelisk

Condition:  Fair
Address:  15th & Franklin
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 31DRAFT 
6/27/2016

Richard Fenscak Cathedral Tree Trail
47 acres

Description:
A forested natural area that can be accessed by 
trailheads at 28th and Irving and Astor Park. Park 
amenities include informational signs, maps, 
benches, and dog waste bags.

Regular Maintenance:
Repairs and maintenance as requested, empty garbage 1x week

Needed Maintenance:
Improve drainage, add wayfinding signs, address user-generated trails, provide interpretive signs, replace 
deficient structures, re-route tread

Condition:  Poor
Address:  
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 32DRAFT 
6/27/2016

River Walk
36.4 acres

Description:
Linear park consisting of a 50-ft rail right of 
way from Smith Point to Alderbrook Natural 
Area, including a 6-mile multi-use trail, open 
landscaped areas with seating and interpretive 
signs, and access to multiple parks and scenic 
viewing areas.

Regular Maintenance:
Mowing and weed-eating 1x week, garbageremoval 2x week, maintenance of bollards, railings, and 
decking as needed

Needed Maintenance:
Power wash all structures, inspect/replace trestles, eradicate invasive/noxious weeds

Condition:  Fair
Address:  Smith Point to Alderbrook Natural Area
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 33DRAFT 
6/27/2016

Shively Park
11.7 acres

Description:
A historic hilltop park with a community hall, two 
picnic shelters, open lawn and landscaped area, 
small play structure, and large forested natural 
areas with meandering informal trails. One trail 
connects to Evergreen Fields and Astoria Middle 
School.

Regular Maintenance:
Mowing, weed-eating 1x week, garbage 2x week, regular cleaning, inspection, and repair of playground 
equipment.

Needed Maintenance:
Eradicate invasive weeds, reduce over-mature understory in forested area, improve picnic shelters, replace 
swing set, replace playground chips

Condition:  Poor
Address:  16th & Williamsport
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 34DRAFT 
6/27/2016

Tapiola Park
12 acres

Description:
Large community park overlooking Youngs Bay 
with a large playground, full basketball court, 
four ballfields, a skate park, two sets of public 
restrooms, and a picnic area with a shelter.

Regular Maintenance:
Cleaning restrooms, empty garbage 2x week, mowing and weed-eating 1x week, field preparation during 
periods of high-use, regular cleaning, inspection, and repair of playground equipment.

Needed Maintenance:
Improve turf and infield on Tapiola 2 field; improve infields and turf on Niemi fields; Power wash play 
structure, update/replace play structure, replace playground chips, reduce vandalism of facilities

Condition:  Fair
Address:  S. Denver & W. Marine
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 35DRAFT 
6/27/2016

Tidal Rock Park
0.08 acres

Description:
Downtown pocket park with a large historic rock 
that served as a landmark for large ships coming 
from the Columbia River. The site includes about 
100-feet of exposed historic chair-wall and 
access to the Astoria underground, and is mostly 
overgrown and inaccessible.

Regular Maintenance:
Remove garbage and debris 1x six months

Needed Maintenance:
Remove noxious/invasive weeds, provide better access, provide better informational signage

Condition:  Poor
Address:  15th & Commercial
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 36DRAFT 
6/27/2016

Violet LaPlante Park
0.69 acres

Description:
Small neighborhood park surrounded by a 
forested area near the Columbia River. Amenities 
include a small climbing structure, swing set, 
covered picnic table, dog waste bags, and direct 
access to the River Walk.

Regular Maintenance:
Mowing, weed-eating 1x week, empty garbage 2x week

Needed Maintenance:
Outdated play equipment, replace playground chips

Condition:  Fair
Address:  45th & Cedar
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 37DRAFT 
6/27/2016

Youngs Bay Marine Park
0.9 acres

Description:
Marine use area with a boat ramp, docks, picnic 
area, and a gravel parking lot shared with the 
Astoria Recreation Center.

Regular Maintenance:
Repair/replacement of dock infrastructure as needed

Needed Maintenance:
Replacement of transient dock and pilings

Condition:  Poor
Address:  1555 W Marine Dr
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 38DRAFT 
6/27/2016

Youngs River Falls
12 acres

Description:
A wooded park about 10 miles south of Astoria, 
with parking, interpretive signs, and a scenic 65’ 
waterfall on the Youngs River.

Regular Maintenance:
Remove garbage and debris 1x six months. Distance from Astoria limits level of care.

Needed Maintenance:
Trail and step repair; replace interpretive signs.

Condition:  Poor
Address:  Young’s River Loop Rd
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 40DRAFT 
6/27/2016

15th Street Triangle
0.2 acres

Description:
Small grass area with trees, landscaping, and a 
“Welcome to Downtown Astoria” sign

Regular Maintenance:
Mowing, weed-eating 1x week, weeding flower beds 1x month

Needed Maintenance:
Weed eradication

Address:  15th & Marine Dr
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 41DRAFT 
6/27/2016

18th Street Flower Beds
0.2 acres

Description:
Small area with natural plantings and flowers.

Regular Maintenance:
Weed-eating and mowing 1x month

Needed Maintenance:
Weed eradication; litter removal

Address:  18th Street from Marine Dr to Exchange St
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 42DRAFT 
6/27/2016

8th Street Triangle
0.1 acres

Description:
Small landscaped area along Marine Drive.

Regular Maintenance:
Weed-eating and mowing 1x month

Needed Maintenance:
Weed eradication; litter removal

Address:  8th & Marine Dr
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 43DRAFT 
6/27/2016

Aquatic Center Grounds
2.2 acres

Description:
Large parking lot, open grass area, and 
landscaping

Regular Maintenance:
Mowing, weed-eating 1x week

Needed Maintenance:
Address roots damaging concrete sidewalk, excessive leaves in fall, eradicate invasive weeds

Address:  1997 Marine Dr
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 45DRAFT 
6/27/2016

Exchange Street Parkway
0.3 acres

Description:
Street trees and landscape beds.

Regular Maintenance:
Tree and landscape bed maintenance as needed

Needed Maintenance:
None

Address:  17th St to 20th St
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 46DRAFT 
6/27/2016

Library Parking Lot
0.2 acres

Description:
Half block paved parking lot with 15 spaces and 
landscaping.

Regular Maintenance:
Trim hedge 2x year

Needed Maintenance:
None

Address:  10th & Exchange
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 47DRAFT 
6/27/2016

Marine Drive Parkway
1.5 acres

Description:
Street trees and landscape beds.

Regular Maintenance:
Tree and landscape bed maintenance as needed

Needed Maintenance:
None

Address:  10th St to 23rd St
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 48DRAFT 
6/27/2016

Portal Park - East
0.2 acres

Description:
Grass area with trees, landscaping, and gateway 
sign.

Regular Maintenance:
Mowing, weed-eating 1x week, garbage 2x week

Needed Maintenance:
Weed eradication; tree trimming

Address:  33rd & Marine Dr
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 49DRAFT 
6/27/2016

Portal Park - West
0.4 acres

Description:
Grass area with trees, landscaping, sculpture, and 
gateway sign.

Regular Maintenance:
Mowing, weed-eating 1x week

Needed Maintenance:
None

Address:  Taylor & W Marine Dr
Owner:  City of Astoria



A1 . 50DRAFT 
6/27/2016

Smith Point Traffic Circle
3.2 acres

Description:
Grass areas with trees and landscaping.

Regular Maintenance:
Mowing, weed-eating 1x week, empty garbage 1x week

Needed Maintenance:
Reduce number of flowerbeds, reduce number of shrubs and trees, eradicate invasive weeds

Address:  Hwy 101 & 202
Owner:  Oregon Department of Transportation



 

 

 

  

CITY OF ASTORIA   Founded 1811 ● Incorporated 1856 

City of Astoria Parks and 
Recreation Tree Inventory 

Request for Proposals 
 
 

 

7/28/2016 

 



1 

 

Table of Contents 
Introduction ............................................................................................................................................................................ 1 
Proposed Scope of Work ........................................................................................................................................................ 2 
Deliverables ........................................................................................................................................................................... 3 
Project Tours .......................................................................................................................................................................... 4 
Qualifications/Experience ...................................................................................................................................................... 4 
Timeline ................................................................................................................................................................................. 4 
Terms and Conditions ............................................................................................................................................................ 4 
Insurance ................................................................................................................................................................................ 4 
Worker’s Compensation ......................................................................................................................................................... 5 
Miscellaneous Contract Provisions ........................................................................................................................................ 5 
Termination of Agreement ..................................................................................................................................................... 6 
Conflict of Laws, Assignment & Integration Clauses ............................................................................................................ 6 
Quality Assurance Procedures ............................................................................................................................................... 7 
Vendor Selection Procedure ................................................................................................................................................... 9 
Evaluation Procedure ............................................................................................................................................................. 9 
Contract Negotiations ............................................................................................................................................................. 9 
 

Introduction 
The City of Astoria’s Parks and Recreation Department, located at 1555 W Marine Dr. Astoria OR 97103, 
invites qualified Contractors to submit proposals to inventory and catalogue all the trees the Parks and 
Recreation Department is responsible for.  
 
Proposals are due no later than 4pm on September 2nd at 1555 W. Marine Dr. Astoria Oregon 97103, with 
attention to Jonah Dart-McLean, Parks Maintenance Supervisor.  Proposals may be mailed, hand-delivered, 
or emailed to jdart@astoria.or.us.  For questions, call 503-741-1600. 
 
The City of Astoria’s Parks Department oversees a large amount park lands and open spaces and maintains a 
wide variety of native and exotic tree species.  The Parks Department desires to increase its knowledge and 
tracking ability of the trees it is responsible for. 

The City of Astoria strongly values its natural resources and strives to provide the most positive and healthful 
environments for its citizens.  The City of Astoria recognizes trees as an important component of a successful 
city and understands that every dollar spent on planting and caring for a community tree yields benefits that 
are two to five times that investment (US Forest Service Study, 2011). 

To serve both the purpose of tracking the health and types of trees located within the City’s parks properties 
in order to best care for and maintain them, and to help promote and enhance the benefits trees provide to 
the community, a comprehensive inventory of tree species, health, size, and location must be carried out. 

The City is seeking a qualified, professional contractor to carry out a detailed tree inventory that encompasses 
all properties maintained by the Parks and Recreation Department. 

 

mailto:jdart@astoria.or.us


2 

 

Proposed Scope of Work 
Proposals must include all costs, broken down by location, (labor, materials, travel, etc.) involved to produce 
a comprehensive tree inventory for the Parks Department.  This inventory must include the following data for 
individual trees: 

 
• Scientific (Genus, species) and common name 
• Type (deciduous, conifer) 
• Condition (provide clearly explained rating system, ex. good, fair, poor, dying, dead) 
• DBH (inches) 
• Height (feet) 
• Canopy Spread (feet) 
• Location (lat. /long.) 
• Proximity to Assets/Forecasted Growth Issues 
• Documentation Of Any Present Tree Disease/Parasite/Threat 
• Tree Health Management Recommendation   
• Photo 
• Map of Trees Within Each Property Location 

 
Areas with high tree densities, locations with homogeneity of species, or large locations where individual 
inventorying is not feasible, Proposers may describe sampling techniques in lieu of capturing data on singular 
trees.  Sampling techniques and methods must be fully described and must capture the following data for 
plots of trees: 

 
• Percentage of each tree species present 
• Average height, age, DBH in plot by species 
• Overall health of tree stand/plot--identification/description of any endemic disease/parasite that 

may threaten stand health 
• Description of any potential hazards to infrastructure in stand 
• Map of stand sampled 

 
Attachment A to this document is a map and description of all locations the Parks Department desires to 
have trees catalogued at.  All tree species in listed areas must be included in this inventory, regardless of size.  
As a quick resource, the list of locations are:  
 

Park Name Location Acreage 
14th & Grand Playground 14th & Grand 0.38 
15th Street Triangle 15th & Marine Drive 0.2 
18th Street Flower Beds 18th Street & Marine 0.2 
9th & Astor Park 9th & Astor 0.13 
8th St. Triangle 8th & Marine Dr. .1 
Alameda Park Alameda & Melbourne 0.11 
Alameda Park Reserve Alameda & Cumberland 0.67 
Alderbrook Natural Area 53rd & Alder 13.3 
Alderbrook Park 45th & Leif Erickson 0.62 
Aquatic Center Grounds 1997 W Marine Drive 2.2 
Astoria Recreation Center Grounds 1555 W Marine Dr 3.5 
Astor Park 1 Coxcomb Dr 37.5 
Birch Field & Park 49th & Birch 0.96 
Cathedral Tree Trail 2800 Block of Irving Avenue 47 



3 

 

Children's Park Playground 6th & Commercial 0.23 
Columbia Fields 35th & Leif Erickson 2.9 
Customs House 35th & Leif Erickson 0.5 
Evergreen Fields Astoria Middle School 11.7 
Exchange Street Parkway 17th St to 20th St 0.3 
Fort Astoria Park 15th & Exchange 0.14 
Fred Lindstrom Park 7th & Niagara 1.9 
Gray School Recreation Complex Alameda & Chinook 1 
Heritage Square / Garden of Surging Waves 11th & Duane 1.25 
Marine Drive Parkway 10th St to 23rd St 1.5 
Maritime Memorial Bay St & Marine Dr 0.24 
McClure Park 8th & Grand 0.92 
Mill Pond Park 23rd & Mill Pond Ln 0.29 
Ocean View Cemetery 18th & Whiskey Rd, Warrenton 100 
People's Park 16th & Marine 0.41 
Pioneer Cemetery 15th & Niagara 2.1 
Portal Park - East 33rd St & Marine Drive 0.2 
Portal Park - West Taylor St & W Marine Drive 0.4 
Post Office Park 15th & Franklin 0.11 
River Walk Smith Point to Alderbrook Lagoon 36.4 
Library Parking Lot 10th & Exchange 0.2 
Shively Park 16th & Williamsport 11.7 
Smith Point Traffic Circle Hwy 101 & Hwy 202 3.2 
Tapiola Park S. Denver & W. Marine 12 
Tidal Rock Park 15th & Commercial 0.08 
Violet LaPlante Park 45th & Cedar 0.69 
Youngs River Falls Young's River Loop Rd 12 
Young’s Bay Marine Park 1555 W. Marine Dr. .9 
Total acres of Inventory:   309.13 

 
 
 
Trees are defined as: woody perennial plants, typically having a single stem or trunk growing to a 
considerable height and bearing lateral branches at some distance from the ground.  Not required to be 
included in this inventory are woody shrubs such as Rhododendrons, Mountain Laurel, etc. 
 
Components of a full proposal shall include: 

• Introduction of contractor, history of business, key staff 
• Demonstrated understanding of project’s scope, goals, and purpose 
• Clearly explained inventory and sampling procedure and techniques   
• Full description of any specialized tools or equipment to be used 
• Clearly explained, simple rating system utilized to catalogue/document tree condition 
• Pricing with detailed cost breakdowns by location 

Deliverables 
Data collected through the tree inventory shall be submitted as two (2) hard copy reports and a digital copy 
with Excel spreadsheets containing all collected data, images, and all maps of tree locations in .pdf format. 
 



4 

 

Proposer will need to summarize data into a 10-15 minute visual presentation to be presented by the 
Contractor to the Parks and Recreation Advisory Board during a regularly scheduled meeting and the Astoria 
City Council during a regularly scheduled meeting.  

Project Tours 
Before submitting a proposal, each Proposer shall have the opportunity to thoroughly examine project 
locations and fully understand the conditions that in any way may affect the work proposed. Failure to 
inspect the sites will in no way relieve the successful contractor from the necessity of furnishing any 
materials or performing any labor necessary for the satisfactory completion of the work.  Tours can be a 
scheduled by contacting Jonah Dart-McLean at 503-741-1600 or jdart@astoria.or.us 

Qualifications/Experience 
Qualified proposers shall have at least one licensed ISA Arborist on staff that will act as a direct supervisor of 
the work to be carried out.  The Arborist will provide written certification that all information collected is 
accurate and complete.  
 
Proposers will provide three (3) references of work or experience that demonstrates capability to complete 
this project. 

Timeline 
Upon notice to proceed, Contractor will have until June 1, 2017 to complete all work associated with this 
project and deliver to the Parks Department a complete inventory of trees within the attached list of 
properties. 

Terms and Conditions 
All proposers responding to this RFP are required to adhere to the terms and conditions outlined in this RFP. 

A. Confidentiality of RFP. The contents of your proposal will remain confidential and will not be 
made available to anyone except City staff and consultants involved in the review, evaluation, 
approval and execution of this RFP Process. By submitting a proposal, the proposer agrees to 
the terms, conditions and specifications of this RFP. 

B. Term of Pricing. For purposes of this RFP, prices quoted for software and services shall 
remain effective for 60 days beyond the submittal date. 

C. Expenses. Any cost incurred by the proposer in preparing and providing a response to the RFP 
is solely the responsibility of your organization.  In addition, any costs associated with product 
demonstrations will also be the sole responsibility of your organization. 

D. Supplemental.  The City of Astoria reserves the right to seek additional information from the 
proposer at any time after the official submittal of the proposal. 

E. Acceptance or Rejection.  The City reserves the right to alter the scope of work and/or reject 
any or all proposals. The existence of the RFP shall not, in any way, obligate the City to take 
any action regarding any response submitted by a proposer. 

 

Insurance 
Prior to starting work hereunder, CONTRACTOR, at CONTRACTOR'S cost, shall secure and continue to carry 
during the term of this contract, with an insurance company acceptable to CITY, the following insurance, 
written on an occurrence basis, in amounts not less than the limitations on liability for local public bodies 



5 

 

provided in ORS 30.272 and ORS 30.273: 
 
A. Commercial General Liability. CONTRACTOR shall obtain, at CONTRACTOR’S expense and keep in effect 
during the term of this Contract, Commercial General Liability Insurance covering bodily injury and property 
damage. Coverage shall include CONTRACTORs, sub-contractors and anyone directly or indirectly employed 
by either. 
 
B. Automobile Liability. CONTRACTOR shall obtain, at CONTRACTOR’S expense and keep in effect during the 
term of the resulting contract, Commercial Business Automobile Liability Insurance covering all owned, non-
owned, or hired vehicles. This coverage may be written in combination with the Commercial General Liability 
Insurance (with separate limits). 
 
C. Additional Insured. The liability insurance coverage shall include CITY and its officers and employees as 
Additional Insured but only with respect to CONTRACTOR’S activities to be performed under this Contract. 
Coverage will be primary and non-contributory with any other insurance and self-insurance. Prior to starting 
work under this Contract, CONTRACTOR shall furnish a certificate to CITY from each insurance company 
providing insurance showing that the CITY is an additional insured, the required coverage is in force, stating 
policy numbers, dates of expiration and limits of liability, and further stating that such coverage is primary 
and not contributory. 
 
D. Professional Liability Insurance. The CONTRACTOR shall have in force a policy of Professional Liability 
Insurance. The CONTRACTOR shall keep such policy in force and current during the term of this contract. 
 
E. Notice of Cancellation or Change. There will be no cancellation, material change, potential exhaustion of 
aggregate limits or non-renewal of insurance coverage(s) without thirty (30) days written notice from 
CONTRACTOR or its insurer(s) to CITY. Any failure to comply with the reporting provisions of this clause will 
constitute a material breach of this Contract and will be grounds for immediate termination of this 
Agreement. 

Worker’s Compensation 
The Contractor, its subcontractors, if any, and all employers working under this Agreement are either subject 
employers under the Oregon Workers' Compensation Law and shall comply with ORS 656.017, which 
requires them to provide workers' compensation coverage for all their subject workers, or are employers 
that are exempt under ORS 656.126. 

Miscellaneous Contract Provisions 
We have attempted in the above materials to provide specific recommendations that could be considered in 
drafting an RFP.  Few, if any, specifications can be written so that they are airtight. Should disputes arise over 
the terms or the performance of the contract they can generally be resolved amicably between the parties to 
the agreement. Sometimes, however, points of view are disparate and more formal means of obtaining an 
equitable resolution is necessary. One method that can be used to treat such occurrences is “binding 
arbitration” which specifies that irresolvable arguments be submitted to a board of arbiters. Guidance can be 
obtained from the construction industry arbitration rules of the American Arbitration Association. Should this 
specification be considered for use, we advise that an attorney familiar with arbitration methods be 
consulted prior to the issuance of the proposal package. The statement which an attorney may advise using 
could be similar to the following:  
 
Arbitration 
Unless otherwise stipulated herein, all claims, disputes, and other matters in question, arising out of this 
agreement, between the parties to this Agreement or the breach thereof, shall be decided by arbitration in 
accordance with the Construction Industry Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association then 
obtaining. No arbitration, arising out of or relating to this Agreement, shall include, by consolidation, joiner 



6 

 

or any other manner, any additional person or a party to this Agreement except by written consent 
containing a specific reference to this Agreement and signed by the Contractor, the Owner and any other 
person sought to be joined. Any consent to arbitration involving an additional person or persons shall not 
constitute consent to arbitration of any dispute not described therein or with any person not named or 
described therein. This Agreement to arbitrate and any agreement to arbitrate with an additional person or 
persons duly consented to by the parties hereto shall be specifically enforceable under the prevailing 
arbitration law.  Notice of demand for arbitration shall be filed in writing with the other party to this 
Agreement and with the American Arbitration Association. The demand shall be made within a reasonable 
time after the claim; dispute or other matter in question has arisen. In no event shall the demand for 
arbitration be made after the date when institution of legal or equitable proceedings based on such claim, 
dispute or other matter in question would be barred by the applicable statute of limitations.  The award 
rendered by the arbitrators shall be final, and judgment may be entered upon it in accordance with 
applicable law in any court having jurisdiction thereof. 

Termination of Agreement 
During the service period, (30) days’ notice shall be required for termination of this agreement. 
In the event of termination not the fault of the Contractor, the Contractor shall be compensated for all 
products and services supplied to the termination date, together with all Termination Expenses as defined 
below.  Termination Expenses include expenses directly attributable to termination for which the Contractor 
is not otherwise compensated. 

Conflict of Laws, Assignment & Integration Clauses 
Unless otherwise specified, this Agreement shall be governed by the law the State of Oregon 
Owner and the Contractor, respectively, bind themselves, their partners, successors, assigns and legal 
representatives to the other party with respect to all covenants of this Agreement. Neither the Owner nor 
the Contractor shall assign, sublet or transfer any interest in this Agreement without the written consent of 
the other.  This Agreement represents the entire and integrated agreement between the Owner and the 
Contractor and supersedes all prior negotiation, representations or agreements; either written or oral. This 
Agreement may be amended only by written instrument signed by both the Owner and the Contractor. 
  



7 

 

Quality Assurance Procedures 
Submit one copy of the service reporting form your company uses to communicate actions taken and include 
answers to the following questions:  

How are field communications with staff carried out?  

How will staff carrying out work in the field identify themselves as a contractor of the City? (Shirts, ID badges, 
etc.)  

Describe your company’s quality control procedures: 

Describe your company’s method(s) for handling customer complaints/problems: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



8 

 

References 
Complete and submit the following for three (3) projects of similar complexity (duplicate the form as 
required). 

 

Name of Project:  

 

Address of Project: 

 

Company/Owner:  

 

Contact Person: 

 

Telephone Number: 

 

Email:  

 

Date Range of Work Carried Out: 

 

Description of Work: 

 
 
 
 
  



9 

 

Vendor Selection Procedure 
Proposals received by the City will be reviewed by the Selection Committee. The Selection Committee will 
use the following criteria and point system to evaluate all the proposals received. 

Evaluation Criteria 

Quality of Proposal: 
Proposal is clear, informative, organized and easy to follow.  It thoroughly addresses the requirements as 
specified in the “Scope of Work”. 
Methodology: 
The methods of gathering data are efficient and will provide clear, pertinent and easy-to-use and manipulate 
information. 
Qualifications: 
Contractor demonstrates a high level of experience and stability in providing this type of work or experience 
in this field, as evidenced by current client references. 
Cost: 
Competitive pricing will be taken into account and proposals should document all costs associated by 
location (labor, materials, travel, etc.). 
 

 Evaluation Criteria Weight 
Quality of Proposal How does the proposal address the 

needs of the City and Department?  
Does the contractor present a clear 
and organized proposal? 

 
25 

Methodology Will this proposal’s methods yield the 
best, most useful results? 

25 

Vendor Qualifications/References What kind of qualified experience does 
this contractor provide and do client 
references provide positive feedback? 

 
25 

Cost How do the costs of this product and 
services align with the City’s proposed 
budget?  How do the costs compare 
with the services/product provided? 

 
25 

 

Total Points Available:  100 
 

 

Evaluation Procedure 
The Selection Committee will review all proposals and make a final decision. 

Contract Negotiations 
Following the interviews and vendor demonstrations, the Committee will recommend a vendor to move 
forward with contract negotiations. The City will begin negotiations with its first preferred contractor at this 
point in the process, but may meet with other contractors if contract negotiations are not amicable. 

 



ArborPro Inc.  22605 La Palma Ave #509  Yorba Linda, CA 92887             
 877-844-DATA 

Copyright 2010 ArborPro Inc.  All Rights Reserved 

PROPOSAL FOR

CITY OF ASTORIA PARKS & RECREATION 
TREE	INVENTORY	

Submitted by:
ArborPro, Inc.    
22605 E. La Palma Ave, Suite 509 
Yorba Linda, CA 92817 
O: 714.694.1924 
F: 714-694-1981 
www.arborprousa.com



ArborPro Inc.  22605 La Palma Ave #509  Yorba Linda, CA 92887             
 877-844-DATA 

Copyright 2010 ArborPro Inc.  All Rights Reserved 

INTRODUCTION

ArborPro, Inc. is a full service Urban Forestry consulting company. We provide municipalities, 
universities, and federal government agencies with a wide array of Urban Forestry services including GPS 
tree inventories, GIS based management software, Hazardous Tree Assessments, disease and insect 
infestation identification as well as Urban Forest Management Plans.   We have been providing these 
services for over 14 years.   

We are a small business incorporated in the State of California with our Corporate Headquarters located 
at 22605 La Palma Ave. Ste 509, Yorba Linda, CA 92887. Our local phone number is 714-694-1924, our 
fax number is 714-694-1981 and our toll free number is 877-844-3282.  Although incorporated in 
California we are licensed to do business in a variety of States nationwide.  We have a total staff of 15 
employees with 10 field Arborists to perform our data collection services, including: Certified Tree Risk 
Assessors and a Board Certified Master Arborist.   

We have successfully completed numerous tree inventory projects throughout the United States including 
the following projects in the Pacific Northwest;     

    Eugene Water and Electric Board 
    City of Albany, OR 
    City of Bend, OR 
    City of Bonney Lake, WA 
    City of Hoquiam, WA 
    City of Olympia, WA 
    City of San Francisco, CA 
    City of East Palo Alto, CA 
    Pacific Lutheran University 

Over the past year we have completed a few of the largest tree inventory projects in the country including; 
Grand Rapids, Michigan in excess of 74,000 trees, the City of Cedar Rapids, Iowa, in excess of 60,000 
trees and the city of San Francisco with over 120,000 tree sites.  Like Astoria, these cities were looking to 
have tree inventories to use as a management tool to effectively manage their urban forest including their 
parks.  

In general, ArborPro proposes to send a team of our highly educated Arborists to the City of Astoria, 
including a Board Certified Master Arborist and Tree Risk Assessor Qualified Arborist. The team will 
collect the critical tree attributes accurately and efficiently using hand held tablets, Trimble handheld GPS 
units and the ArborPro software suite. The data collected will be submitted to the City of Astoria as two 
(2) hard copy reports and a digital copy with Excel spreadsheets containing all collected data, images and 
all maps of tree locations in .pdf format. We will also provide the City with a license of our proprietary 
software suite, ArborPro, at no cost if the City desires. All work will be completed prior to the June 1, 
2017 deadline and 10-15 minute visual presentation will be prepared for the Parks & Recreation Advisory 
Board and Astoria City Council. 



ArborPro Inc.  22605 La Palma Ave #509  Yorba Linda, CA 92887             
 877-844-DATA 

Copyright 2010 ArborPro Inc.  All Rights Reserved 

Our team has implemented a very comprehensive quality assurance program; the program allows us to 
provide our clients with superior data regardless of the size of the project.  Typically, we break an area 
into geographic zones, in this case we will manage the project on a park by park basis.  Each park will be 
inventoried until complete to ensure the best quality data before our team moves to the next park. These 
procedures have allowed our team to provide our large scale clients with the detail and organization of a 
small scale job.  The collected information is analyzed nightly. Our project manager will be in constant 
contact with the City by phone and email detailing team locations and also provide weekly progress 
reports.  

Having a tree inventory is a time and money saving tool that will benefit the City of Astoria, year after 
year. The liability factor of damage to property and people will be greatly reduced when hazardous trees 
are located and identified.  Tree maintenance costs will be reduced with the ability to create work orders 
for tree crews, making their job easier and saving time. In a city with beautiful parks and known as a 
hiking destination, a healthy tree canopy can only add value to the outdoor experience.   As a city rich in 
history, home of the beloved Cathedral Tree and the trees of historical significance that grace the yard of 
the Flavel house,  it is obvious that the City of Astoria  appreciates the benefits of investing in their Urban 
Forest.   

ArborPro’s team would like to be a partner with The City of Astoria, for this project now, and in the 
future, to support and educate the residents of this gorgeous area on the significance and benefits of their 
urban forest. We have found that being able to show residents the value of the trees within their park 
community in air quality and shade among multiple other traits, often relates to how people care for the 
trees within their community areas and that is advantageous to everyone. 



ArborPro Inc.  22605 La Palma Ave #509  Yorba Linda, CA 92887             
 877-844-DATA 

Copyright 2010 ArborPro Inc.  All Rights Reserved 

METHODOLOGY

ArborPro, Inc. is prepared to conduct a comprehensive GPS-based tree inventory to assist the City of   
Astoria, in proactively managing their urban forest within their park system.  It is our intention to locate, 
assess and inventory, all park locations requested.  We will provide the City of Astoria with all the data 
collected in two (2) hard copy reports and a digital copy with Excel spreadsheets containing all collected 
data, images and all maps of tree locations.  The project will be summarized into a 10-15 minute visual 
presentation and presented to the Parks & Recreation Advisory Board during a regularly scheduled 
meeting and the Astoria City Council during a regularly scheduled meeting. 

QUALITY CONTROL PLAN

Quality control is a number one priority for 
ArborPro, therefore we have implemented numerous 
steps in our quality control plan to assure the most 
accurate and precise data possible.   

Pre-Job Meeting 
Our staff will meet with designated staff from the 
City prior to commencement of the project to 
determine and agree upon project standards, review 
the scope of work and identify the criteria for 
evaluating and documenting the City’s Urban Forest 
with the requirements provided in the RFP.  Meeting 
topics will include scheduling, field criteria, detailed 
attribute definition, Assessment classification, daily 
operating procedures and raw geographic data 
sharing and acquisition.  The ArborPro team 
completes a checklist to verify all necessary topics 
have been addressed and all base data will or has 
been delivered. 

Data Collection Process 

Utilizing GIS tablet computers and GeoXH Trimble GPS units, the arborists 
will collect the data directly into the ArborPro Software Suite, a custom 
designed GIS software program, and review the data on a daily basis.  
ArborPro is equipped with detailed quality assurance scripts to verify and 
correct addressing and spatial abnormalities.  Furthermore, the data is run 
through a variety of quality assurance queries in order to identify any 
potential data entry errors.  Our quality assurance queries include both 
tabular data review as well as spatial quality control scripts.  A few 
examples of the QC queries include: 



ArborPro Inc.  22605 La Palma Ave #509  Yorba Linda, CA 92887             
 877-844-DATA 

Copyright 2010 ArborPro Inc.  All Rights Reserved 

Tabular Queries  Condition vs Recommended Maintenance  
(ex. Good condition tree <> Priority 1 Removal) 

   No duplicate Addresses 
   Species Review – All species meet regional species 
   Height vs DBH 

The work will be completed on a park by park basis. Each park will be completed and reviewed prior to 
beginning the next park.  This process ensures that no trees are missed and assures the quality of the data.  
If we identify issues within a park they can be addressed on a small scale.  Below is a map provided to the 
City of Palm Springs following the completion of Sunrise Park.  Upon completion of each park we 
provided the City of Palm Springs with a detailed assessment of the trees in the park as well as a 
summary report including detailed maps.  

Weekly Review  

The data collected by each data collector is reviewed by the Project Manager on a weekly basis.  Once our 
team has run the quality assurance scripts, we will provide the Project Manager with a series of work 
orders for him/her to inspect.  One of ArborPro’s primary concerns is the proper species identification for 
each tree within the parks in Astoria.  In order to maintain the highest integrity with regards to species, we 
will assign Scot Watkins a Board Certified Master Arborist as the Project Manager.  He is uniquely 
qualified to review our data especially with regards to species.  Each of our data collectors is trained to 
not “guess” on a tree species.  If they do not know the species 100% they are trained to categorize that 
tree as an “Other Tree”.  This way we can easily run a search of the dataset for “Other Trees” in a zone.  
Scot will then go into the field and identify the trees and update the dataset.



ArborPro Inc.  22605 La Palma Ave #509  Yorba Linda, CA 92887             
 877-844-DATA 

Copyright 2010 ArborPro Inc.  All Rights Reserved 

Below is a screen shot of our software with a work order highlighted in red for species to be reviewed by 
our Project Manager in the City of Cedar Rapids. 

ArborPro, Inc. employs a similar procedure for trees that have been identified through our quality control 
procedures as potential errors.  Scot will review the species in general, review the condition and 
recommended maintenance determinations by each data collector on a weekly basis.  Our goal is a 
consistent, high quality data set.   

The Project Manager also holds an internal weekly production meeting with the data collection team.  At 
this time, they discuss any trends or concerns he has noted with regards to the quality of the data.  They 
also discuss the production goals of the team.   

Progress Meetings & Reports 

A weekly progress report will be prepared for the City the first day of each work week. This report will 
include detailed maps of the parks that have been completed, metrics, and a complete listing of the trees 
surveyed the previous week as well as projections for the following week. All action items from previous 
meetings will be addressed and new action items created if needed.  We will also provide the City with an 
alphabetical list of all trees, grouped by park, that have been identified as Hazardous or a High Priority 
Maintenance Issue along with recommended maintenance options.  With this information being delivered 
to the City in real time, the City can act on maintenance requirements during the course of the data 
collection phase.  



ArborPro Inc.  22605 La Palma Ave #509  Yorba Linda, CA 92887             
 877-844-DATA 

Copyright 2010 ArborPro Inc.  All Rights Reserved 

Below is a screen shot of our software identifying Priority 1 Removals and a work order created by the 
City of Palm Springs to send field crews to address the hazardous trees.   

Professional Appearance 

ArborPro, Inc. understands that while on the public right-of-way 
and parks performing our tree inventory services, we represent the 
City as a City contractor.  All of our employees are trained with our 
customer service program.  They are all professional individuals 
who know that the public often has questions regarding the need to 
provide the survey, etc.  While always polite and professional, we 
will typically provide the resident with a city contact to answer the 
questions.  We would recommend as in the case of the City of San 
Francisco, that we develop a post card or door hanger that can be 
presented to residents who have questions.  This proactive approach 
often results in positive public feedback.  Our employees will 
always be dressed in a professional manner. They will have an 
identification badge, wear a safety vest, company polo shirt, work 
boots, etc. 



ArborPro Inc.  22605 La Palma Ave #509  Yorba Linda, CA 92887             
 877-844-DATA 

Copyright 2010 ArborPro Inc.  All Rights Reserved 

Customer Complaints 

We do not anticipate any customer complaints, but if there is a resident that has an issue with an 
employee or the work that is being completed our staff will notify the appropriate City contact 
immediately.  The information will also be conveyed to the Corporate Office to initiate any appropriate 
response by our management team. 

Location Specific Work Procedures 

Based on our vast experience of working in a variety of environments, including but not limited to, public 
streets, golf courses, parks, zoos, wild animal parks, amusement parks, etc., our team understands that 
different locales may require additional protocols.  While working in city parks, we will coordinate with 
the Parks Department Staff to schedule around planned events at the park locations. 

Client Communication/Data Delivery  

Our projects begin with a comprehensive Pre Job meeting to clearly state and determine every team 
member’s responsibility, goals, tasks and timelines.  Our Project Manager, Scot will be in contact with 
the City on a daily basis. He will also set up weekly meetings between himself and the appropriate staff 
from the City. We will also provide the City with a license of ArborPro (tree inventory management 
program) in the first week of the project (If 
the City so desires).  Our staff will send 
weekly updates to the City for constant 
review of the data and to review our 
progression through the City.   

In conjunction with our weekly data 
updates and progress reports, we also 
monitor our data collector’s progress on a 
daily tracking sheet.  This information 
provides the number of trees surveyed by 
each Arborist each day, and it maintains a 
running count of progress on the project at 
any given time.  To the right is a copy of 
the daily tracking sheet for the City of San 
Francisco.   

Our Project Manager will be in contact with the City on a daily basis.  He will email the starting locations 
for each Arborist for that day and report any issues that were identified in the field the previous day. This 
level of constant communication results in a high quality inventory that will meet the standards set forth 
by the City of Astoria.  We are able to identify any potential issues immediately, notify the City and 
rectify the problems in real time.  Companies with less experience providing these services will typically 
send their Arborists out for weeks or months at a time, before providing the client with an update of the 
data.  We have found that constant communication results in a quality product with very little room for 
errors. 



ArborPro Inc.  22605 La Palma Ave #509  Yorba Linda, CA 92887             
 877-844-DATA 

Copyright 2010 ArborPro Inc.  All Rights Reserved 

TREE INVENTORY DATA FIELDS

Per the RFP specifications, the data collected will include all the fields requested by the City. These fields 
will all be reviewed and discussed in the pre job meeting. We understand that at a minimum the 
information collected will include: 

 Scientific (Genus, Species) and common name 
 Type (deciduous, conifer) 
 Condition 
 DBH (diameter at breast height) 
 Height 
 Canopy Spread 
 Location (lat/long) 
 Proximity to Assets/Forecasted Growth Issues 
 Documentation of any present tree disease/parasite/threat 
 Tree Health Management Recommendation 
 Photo 
 Map of Trees Within Each Property Location 

High density tree locations with homogeneity of species or large locations where individual inventorying 
is not feasible, may be inventoried as a plot of trees with the following criteria. 

 Percentage of each tree species present 
 Average height, age, DBH, in plot by species 
 Overall health of tree stand/plot – identification/description of any 

endemic disease/parasite that may threaten stand health 
 Description of any potential hazards to infrastructure in stand 
 Map of stand sampled 

Below is a sample screen shot from our software showing the trees in the park identified by points and a 
polygon representing a stand of trees. 



ArborPro Inc.  22605 La Palma Ave #509  Yorba Linda, CA 92887             
 877-844-DATA 

Copyright 2010 ArborPro Inc.  All Rights Reserved 

TREE CONDITION ASSESSMENT

Below is the standard tree condition assessment utilized by our team of arborists.  We are willing to 
modify the definitions per the City request.  With regards to hazardous trees many of arborists maintain 
the ISA Tree Risk Assessment Qualification and will utilize the ISA protocols to rate hazardous trees. 

Excellent – The tree is near perfect condition, this determination is generally used for trees with no 
defects and young trees that have been properly maintained. 

Very Good – The tree is in very good condition with very minor defects that could be corrected by 
pruning.  These trees generally “stand out” with respect to the aesthetic value they add to the Urban 
Forest. 

Good – The tree has no major structural problems; no significant damage from diseases or pests; no 
significant mechanical damage; a full, balanced crown, and normal twig condition and vigor for its 
species.  

Fair – The tree may exhibit the following characteristics: minor structural problems and/or mechanical 
damage; significant damage from non-fatal or disfiguring diseases; minor crown imbalance or thin crown; 
minor structural imbalance; or stunted growth compared to adjacent trees.  

Poor – The tree appears healthy, but may have structural defects. This classification also includes healthy 
trees that have unbalanced structures or have been topped. Trees in this category may also have severe 
mechanical damage, decay, severe crown dieback or poor vigor/failure to thrive. 

Dead – Trees in advanced states of decline are not included. This category refers only to dead trees. 

Critical – The tree is in a physical state that requires immediate attention.  Generally these trees are 
recommended for a Priority One Removal.   

PROJECT EQUIPMENT

Our staff will utilize a Panasonic toughpad tablet in order to collect the data necessary for the survey.  
They will also utilize a GeoXH Trimble handheld GPS unit if needed to locate GPS coordinates in 
locations that require a separate GPS unit.  Each arborist will also have a dbh tape, clinometer, laser range 
finder, GoPro camera and any other necessary equipment.  Our staff is also trained to use our drone to 
assess trees that are not easily accessible or to identify damage in the upper canopy of the tree.  The drone 
assessment is not part of our typical survey but could be utilize upon request.  



ArborPro Inc.  22605 La Palma Ave #509  Yorba Linda, CA 92887             
 877-844-DATA 

Copyright 2010 ArborPro Inc.  All Rights Reserved 

Tree Management Software  

As previously mentioned, ArborPro will provide the City of Astoria with a copy of our proprietary 
software suite, called ArborPro at not cost. This software is used throughout the country by numerous 
municipalities, universities, and parks departments because of its ease of use. It is a cost saving tool that 
has become invaluable to our clients. 

ArborPro utilizes the latest in GIS (Geographic Information System) technology to provide the user with 
an immediate visual representation of any tree in the Urban Forest.  The most important factor of this 
project may be the use of a Tree Management Software Program.  Once the data has been collected the 
City will be using this software program for years to come.   

Ease of Use 
ArborPro, Inc. was developed by a team of Certified Arborists and GIS professionals.  The ultimate 
development goal was an easy to use, powerful GIS tree inventory program to assist our municipal clients 
in the efficient management of their urban forests.  The result is a GIS database program that easy to use 
for field personnel and powerful enough for advanced spatial queries requested by GIS professionals.  
GIS staff can access the data in ArborPro and use it as a feature in the ArcGIS or Arcview environment.   

Map View 
ArborPro, Inc. is a comprehensive 
GIS asset management database.  
The dynamic link between our 
database and mapping component 
sets us apart from the competition.  
Our mapping view provides the 
ability to view Full Extent, Zoom In, 
Zoom Out, Select Trees, Identify 
Trees, Create New Sites, Move 
Trees, Draw Polygons, Add Base 
Layers and perform Spatial Queries.  
Utilizing the Select Tool, the user 
can select a grouping of trees to 
request detailed information or to 
create a work order.   



ArborPro Inc.  22605 La Palma Ave #509  Yorba Linda, CA 92887             
 877-844-DATA 

Copyright 2010 ArborPro Inc.  All Rights Reserved 

Database View  

The database view from ArborPro is an easily 
sortable datasheet.  It provides an easy way to 
find a tree throughout the city using location 
attributes.  To the left of the data screen is a 
directory with a listing of the city districts.  By 
selecting a district the database will filter out 
that zone and the mapping feature will bring 
you directly to that district.  From this view you 
can select a grouping of trees as featured or 
select an individual tree.  If you double click an 
individual tree, the tree detail form will appear. 

Tree Detail Form  
The Tree Detail form provides the attribute information 
for each tree.  This form is customizable based on the 
attributes that our clients request.  The form also 
includes a representative photo of the tree specie and a 
link to add the actual photo of that tree.  The ability to 
add your own photo creates a visual archive for the 
tree. 

The Tree Detail Form also includes a mapping window 
and a work history detail.  The mapping window 
provides the user with a variety of mapping tools, 
including; Full Extent, Zoom, Pan and Identify.  The 
Identify tool selects the data associated with any tree 
that is selected on the map.  The work history detail 
maintains all past history records.  By selecting a 
record, the detailed work history appears on the tab.  



ArborPro Inc.  22605 La Palma Ave #509  Yorba Linda, CA 92887             
 877-844-DATA 

Copyright 2010 ArborPro Inc.  All Rights Reserved 

Work Order Management 
Our system was developed by Certified Arborists who understand the need for the field crews to have a 
straight forward work order and map to complete their field duties.  With this in mind, ArborPro, Inc. 
created an easy to use work order system.  The user can create a work order from the database selection.  
This work order will be provided to the field crew with a map of the work locations for the efficient 
completion of work tasks.  Each location on the work order is assigned a work number and the points on 
the map are assigned corresponding location numbers.  Utilizing these corresponding numbers the work 
crew can easily find the trees to perform their work tasks.  This information is then updated in the 
software program so that all work history is entered into the program.  



ArborPro Inc.  22605 La Palma Ave #509  Yorba Linda, CA 92887             
 877-844-DATA 

Copyright 2010 ArborPro Inc.  All Rights Reserved 

Call Log 
ArborPro includes a call log monitoring form.  The user can type in the address of any property in the 
City, the address will appear including all of the trees at the address. Also showing up will be  all 
previous work histories and a log of all previous phone calls by the resident.  Additionally this form 
includes the next scheduled maintenance at the property (which in many cases satisfies the resident 
knowing that the trees adjacent to their property on a maintenance schedule). 

ArborPro Enterprise Edition 
The ArborPro Enterprise Edition allows the client to host the data on the cloud, fully hosted by ArborPro.  
The Enterprise Edition gives the client access to all of the data and capabilities of ArborPro through any 
smart phone, web enabled tablet or device.  The ArborPro system is unique in that you can run the 
program entirely via web access or run the program on a tablet completely disconnected from the 
web.  We have found numerous clients appreciated the ability to run ArborPro completely disconnected 
from the web with the ability to synchronize the data set as soon as you have an internet connection.  This 
provides the user the ability to utilize the program in any environment. 



ArborPro Inc.  22605 La Palma Ave #509  Yorba Linda, CA 92887             
 877-844-DATA 

Copyright 2010 ArborPro Inc.  All Rights Reserved 

Customer Support 
ArborPro has the ability to host all the tree inventory data and we are able to supply 24/7 information 
access and technical support.   We have our standard customer support via phone and web access from 
8am to 5pm Central Standard Time.  Our staff can be reached around the clock for emergency needs. 

Tree Valuation  
ArborPro has incorporated the The Guide for Plant Appraisal, 9th Edition, authored by the Council of 
Tree and Landscape Appraisers (CTLA) formula to calculate tree values into the software program.  The 
user can search or using the map highlight a grouping of trees and the program will calculate the value of 
those trees.  You can also change some of the factors utilized in the program to calculate the values.   



ArborPro Inc.  22605 La Palma Ave #509  Yorba Linda, CA 92887             
 877-844-DATA 

Copyright 2010 ArborPro Inc.  All Rights Reserved 

PREVIOUS EXPERIENCE
ArborPro, Inc. has completed over 225 tree inventories throughout the United States over the past 14 
years.  Our projects have varied in size from 500 to 125,000 trees. ArborPro, Inc. has the most experience 
in the country for completing projects of this scope.  All of the tree inventories provided by ArborPro for 
the past 14 years have included Level 2 Tree Risk Assessments.  Below are the project details for these 
clients, as well as references from other jobs that we have completed  

City of San Francisco, CA 

In November of 2015, the City and County of San Francisco 
awarded ArborPro, Inc. a $350,000 contract to complete a 
city-wide tree inventory.  The initial funds available allowed 
for the inventory of over 80,000 tree sites.  Once our team 
completed the initial project on schedule, the city amended 
the agreement to inventory up to 140,000 tree sites.  Their 
initial estimate was low.  The City of San Francisco receives 
data updates on a weekly basis including a summary report.  
ArborPro is currently utilizing a five-man team lead by 
Project Manager Ken Greby.  This tree survey has been a 
highly political and community sensitive project. The City 
has created a web site to provide the community with 
updates on the progress.  Our team, as with all projects, is 
performing the survey on a neighborhood by neighborhood 
basis.  Upon completion of each neighborhood we provide 
the City with a summary report of the neighborhood 
including the i-Tree analysis.  This information is being 
updated to the community as we progress through the City.  
To date we have surveyed just over 120,000 trees.  In an 
effort to increase community awareness our team is 
providing interested residents with the post card seen here.  
We would suggest that the City of Astoria consider utilizing 
a similar post card for citizen awareness on this project.  The following page includes a letter of 
recommendation from the City of San Francisco. 

Jon Swae
SF Planning Department
415-575-9069 
jon.swae@sfgov.org



ArborPro Inc.  22605 La Palma Ave #509  Yorba Linda, CA 92887             
 877-844-DATA 

Copyright 2010 ArborPro Inc.  All Rights Reserved 



ArborPro Inc.  22605 La Palma Ave #509  Yorba Linda, CA 92887             
 877-844-DATA 

Copyright 2010 ArborPro Inc.  All Rights Reserved 

City of Grand Rapids, MI

On April 28, 2015, the City of Grand Rapids, Michigan awarded their tree inventory project to ArborPro, 
Inc.  The project included a comprehensive city-wide tree inventory including stumps and vacant planting 
sites.  Over the course of the next few months ArborPro, Inc. inventoried over 74,000 trees throughout the 
City.  The lead project manager for ArborPro, Inc was William Brown.  William provided the City 
Arborist, Joe Sulak, with weekly updates of the project progress and kept constant communication with 
Mr. Sulak.  The project was completed with a two man team from September of 2015 through March of  
2016.  Due to winter weather conditions the ArborPro team was not working in Grand Rapids in the 
months of December and January.  Following the completion of the project Mr. Sulak sent us the quoted 
email below thanking William for his hard work and his professionalism throughout the project.  This is 
our written recommendation from Mr. Sulak, feel free to contact him.  Below is a screenshot of the 
project.

Good Morning Bill, 
The way you have structured the Oakhill survey is great.  I really appreciate all you have done on this 
project and the regular updates.  The survey has been completed in a professional manner and when I 
have ‘spot checked’ data it has been accurate.  We will be presenting the data to the City Commission 
probably mid-summer.    

Joe Sulak 
Grand Rapids Parks Superintendent 
Cemetery, Forestry & Park Operations 
616-456-4236 
jsulak@grand-rapids.mi.us 



ArborPro Inc.  22605 La Palma Ave #509  Yorba Linda, CA 92887             
 877-844-DATA 

Copyright 2010 ArborPro Inc.  All Rights Reserved 

City of Cedar Rapids, IA 

In March of 2016, the City of Cedar Rapids awarded their tree inventory project to ArborPro, Inc.  The 
contract for the City of Cedar Rapids includes a city-wide inventory of an estimated 70,000 tree sites.  
The City of Cedar Rapids reviewed our proposal including our project work plan and contacted our 
references.  Based on their review, they chose ArborPro.  As part of the project, we provided the City  
with a (3 user) license of our software program so they can review our data and utilize our work order 
management system as we perform the inventory.  We have provided the City of Cedar Rapids with a 
three man team.  Following our initial prejob meeting our team has been providing the city with weekly 
updates and we have submitted a detailed summary report of the initial two weeks.  ArborPro, Inc. 
completed the survey in August of 2016.  Below is a screen shot of the completed project.   

Todd Fagan 
City Arborist  
ISA Certified Arborist IL-1453A 
Office: (319) 286-5616 
t.fagan@cedar-rapids.org



ArborPro Inc.  22605 La Palma Ave #509  Yorba Linda, CA 92887             
 877-844-DATA 

Copyright 2010 ArborPro Inc.  All Rights Reserved 

City of Amarillo, TX 

The City of Amarillo, TX awarded ArborPro, Inc. a contract to perform a tree inventory for the park’s 
department.  The City also just purchased our Turf/Asset module to plot all of the assets located 
throughout the City parks, including but not limited to; signs, irrigation controllers, drinking fountains, 
parking meters, etc.  Kevin Wilde, the Assistant Park Superintendent, has utilized the ArborPro program 
and our data set to show other Park Administrators the value of a tree inventory and the ArborPro 
program.  He provided a demonstration of the program at a recent Texas Tree Conference and Trade 
Show. 

Kevin Wilde U.S. Navy Retired
City of Amarillo
Assistant Park Superintendent  
806-378-6840  Office  
Kevin.Wilde@amarillo.gov 



ArborPro Inc.  22605 La Palma Ave #509  Yorba Linda, CA 92887             
 877-844-DATA 

Copyright 2010 ArborPro Inc.  All Rights Reserved 

City of Palm Springs, CA 

In August of 2014, the City of Palm Springs awarded ArborPro, Inc. the contract to perform a tree 
inventory, provide software and a 5 year management plan.  Prior to the survey the City did not have a 
tree maintenance plan in place.  The City had maintained a reactive program responding to complaints 
and emergencies.  ArborPro, Inc. provided the City with a comprehensive inventory including the city 
owned golf courses, parks, city facilities and city right of way trees.  Once the survey was completed, the 
staff at ArborPro provided an Urban Forest Master Plan that included a 5 year maintenance program.  The 
City Council adopted the plan and has moved forward on the proactive maintenance plan.  Furthermore, 
the City has hired ArborPro for ongoing consulting services to help prepare an RFP for tree maintenance 
and to monitor the tree maintenance contractors.  This tree inventory consisted of over 15,000 trees city 
wide, it  included over 2,000 trees on the golf course.   

Michele C. Mician, MS, LEED GA 
Manager, Office of Sustainability 
760-323-8214  
Email: Michele.mician@palmspringsca.gov



ArborPro Inc.  22605 La Palma Ave #509  Yorba Linda, CA 92887             
 877-844-DATA 

Copyright 2010 ArborPro Inc.  All Rights Reserved 

Below	is	a	partial	list	of	our	nationwide	municipal	and	university	tree	inventory	clients.	
Municipality	 State	 University	and	Other	Clients	 State	
Albany	 OR	 Eugene	Water	and	Electric	Board	 OR	
Bend	 OR	 Evergreen	University	 WA	
Bonney	Lake	 OR	 Pacific	Lutheran	University	 WA	
Hoquiam	 WA	 California	State	University,	Long	Beach	 CA	
Olympia	 WA	 Long	Beach	Unified	School	District	 CA	
Orange	 CA	 Point	Loma	Nazarene	University	 CA	
Palm	Springs	 CA	 Cal	Tech	 CA	
Santa	Clarita	 CA	 USC	 CA	
Lake	Forest	 CA	 Utah	State	University	 UT	
Thousand	Oaks	 CA	 Grand	Forks	Air	Force	Base	 ND	
Lancaster	 CA	 University	of	North	Dakota	 ND	
Fountain	Valley	 CA	 Mount	Pleasant	Cemetaries	 Toronto	
Redondo	Beach	 CA	 Jet	Propulsion	Laboratory	 CA	
Simi	Valley	 CA	 Santa	Clara	University	 CA	
San	Francisco	 CA	 San	Jose	State	University	 CA	
Malibu	 CA	 San	Diego	County	Parks	 CA	
East	Palo	Alto	 CA	 Occidental	College	 CA	
Miami	Springs	 FL	 San	Diego	State	University	 CA	
Pompano	Beach	 FL	 San	Francisco	State	University	 CA	
Port	St.	Lucie	 FL	 Lawrence	Livermore	National	Laboratory	 CA	
Boca	Raton	 FL	 Cal	Poly	San	Luis	Obispo	 CA	
Miami	Lakes	 FL	 Pepperdine	University	 CA	
Bowling	Green	 KY	 Texas	Woman's	University	 TX	
Minot	 ND	 Austin	Independent	School	District	 TX	
Fargo	 ND	 Southern	Methodist	University	 TX	
Jamestown	 ND	 University	of	Texas,	Dallas	 TX	
Johnson	City	 TN	 New	Orleans	City	Park	 LA	
Kansas	City	 MO	 North	Carolina	State	University	 NC	
Olivette	 MO	 University	of	Central	Florida	 FL	
Kirkwood	 MO	 University	of	Kentucky	 KY	
St	Josephs	 MO	 Central	Michigan	University	 MI	
Amarillo		 TX	 Sleepy	Hollow	Cemetery	 NY	
Flower	Mound	 TX	 University	of	Tulsa	 OK	
Sylvania	 OH	 Oklahoma	City	Community	College	 OK	
Grand	Rapids	 MI	 Tulsa	Community	College	 OK	
Novi	 MI	 Truman	State	University	 MO	



An Urban Natural Resource Inventory - The City of San Francisco, CA

1650 Mission St #400, San Francisco, CA 94103

City of San Francisco, CA

Jon Swae

415-575-9069

jon.swae@sfgov.org

Jan 2016 - Sept 2016

Tree inventory all the city wide trees and vacant sites. Over 120,000 sites have been collected to date.

The initial contract was amended to add on numerous sites from the original agreement.  The City 

receives data updates on a weekly basis including a summary report



Street Tree Inventory Services

201 Market Ave SW, Grand Rapids, MI 49503

The City of Grand Rapids, MI

Joe Sulak

616-456-4236

jsulak@grand-rapids.mi.us

Sept 2015 - March 2016 (project shut down during winter)

  On April 28, 2015, the City of Grand Rapids, Michigan awarded their tree inventory project to 
ArborPro, Inc.  The project included a comprehensive city-wide tree inventory including stumps and 
vacant planting sites.  Over the course of the next few months ArborPro, Inc. inventoried over 74,000 
trees throughout the City.  The lead project manager for ArborPro, Inc was William Brown.  William 
provided the City Arborist, Joe Sulak, with weekly updates of the project progress and kept constant 
communication with Mr. Sulak.  The project was completed with a two man team from September of 
2015 through March of  2016.  Due to winter weather conditions the ArborPro team was not working 
in Grand Rapids in the months of December and January.  Following the completion of the project 
Mr. Sulak sent us the quoted email below thanking William for his hard work and his professionalism 
throughout the project.  This is our written recommendation from Mr. Sulak, feel free to contact him 



Tree Inventory for the Parks throughout the City of Amarillo, TX

509 S.E. 7th Ave, Amarillo, TX 79101

City of Amarillo Parks Dept. - Amarillo TX

Kevin Wilde

806-378-6840 

Kevin.Wilde@amarillo.gov

2012

The City of Amarillo, TX awarded ArborPro, Inc. a contract to perform a tree inventory for the park’s 
department.  The City also just purchased our Turf/Asset module to plot all of the assets located 
throughout the City parks, including but not limited to; signs, irrigation controllers, drinking 
fountains, parking meters, etc.  Kevin Wilde, the Assistant Park Superintendent, has utilized the 
ArborPro program and our data set to show other Park Administrators the value of a tree inventory 
and the ArborPro program.  He provided a demonstration of the program at a recent Texas Tree 
Conference and Trade Show.



ArborPro Inc.  22605 La Palma Ave #509  Yorba Linda, CA 92887             
 877-844-DATA 

Copyright 2010 ArborPro Inc.  All Rights Reserved 

PERSONNEL

Each of the data collectors to be assigned to this project have performed tree inventories for over five 
years.   Below are the resumes of the personnel that can be assigned to this project.  Our Arborists are 
highly educated, and constantly updating their knowledge through courses of study in Arboriculture and 
Forestry. They also spend copious amounts of their free time staying up to date on pest issues, tree ID and 
Urban Forestry. Scot Watkins, Project Manager is also trained on EAB and Asian Longhorn Beetle 
eradication.  In addition to support staff, ArborPro, Inc.’s team of experts is made up of qualified and 
motivated employees that are passionate about helping clients improve their Urban Forest.  Our staff 
includes an ISA Board Certified Master Arborist, ten ISA Certified Arborists, three Qualified Tree Risk 
Assessors and a GIS developer.

Scot Watkins, Project Manager & ISA Board Certified Master Arborist ISA CERT #IL-0919B 

Starting in 1995, Mr. Watkins has been providing tree disease 
consultation, hazard tree identification, Urban Forest Master Plans, plant 
identification and GPS tree inventories. He holds a Naturalist 
Certification from the Morton Arboretum and belongs to the Illinois 
Chapter of the Nurseryman’s Association.  Mr. Watkins has been a 
Board Certified Master Arborist since 2005.  He is an expert at 
identifying EAB problems and has written papers and held seminars on 
the effects of this dilemma. Mr. Watkins has conducted numerous tree 
walks and tree seminars to share his knowledge with residents of the cities and counties where we have 
conducted inventories.  Mr. Watkins has also provided classroom training for the DRW departments of 
Bend OR, Poplar Bluff MO, Sanford FL, the Borough of Haddonfield NJ as well as communities in 
Maryland and New York.  He has taught Advanced Diagnostics and Field Diagnostics for the Wisconsin 
Landscape Contractors Association Foreman Training days.  His experience includes:

Customer Name    Customer Name 
Bend, OR                   University of Kentucky                         
Olympia, WA                 St Joseph, MO  
Albany, OR     Truman State University, MO 
Hoquiam, WA                 Kansas City, MO    
Pacific Lutheran University   Kirkwood, MO   
San Francisco, CA    Amarillo, TX

Professional Achievements

• 2009 – EAB and BLS Inspections Haddonfield NJ
• 2014 -  EAB Inventory and Inspections – City of Kansas City 
• 2003 – Illinois, Indiana, and Michigan,  EAB Monitoring and Inspections 
• 2002 – Recognizing Emerald Ash Borer, Dr. Gary Watson, The Morton Arboretum 
• 1997 -  ALB Monitoring and Inspections Ravenswood, Chicago IL  



ArborPro Inc.  22605 La Palma Ave #509  Yorba Linda, CA 92887             
 877-844-DATA 

Copyright 2010 ArborPro Inc.  All Rights Reserved 

• 2013- Presenter/Trainer City of Poplar Bluff, Mo - “Preserve in Place Practices:  Cabling and       
Bracing” 

• 2012 – Ping Tree Service Emerald Ash Borer Program Training 
• 2010-Speaker/Trainer City of Haddonfield Tree Commission - “Interpreting Tree 
 Inventory Data and Mitigating Risk in the Urban Forest” 
• 2005 – Lesco Tech Bulletin Presentations - “Prescriptions for Proactive Mitigation: 
 Emerald Ash Borer” 

William C. Brown, Area Manager, ISA Certified Arborist ISA CERT # MI-4226A, Certified Tree Risk 
Assessor & Data Collector 

Mr. Brown has managed numerous municipal projects throughout the United 
States performing risk assessments and inventories. Mr. Brown will be 
assigned as the Area Manager and Lead Data Collector in Astoria.  Bill 
wanted to exceed in the field, therefore, Mr. Brown obtained a degree in 
Applied Science in Forestry Technology and Natural Resource Management 
from State University of New York.   Mr. Brown recently completed the tree 
inventory in the City of Cedar Rapids, IA. He is trained and certified in 
pesticide application pertaining to the Asian Longhorn Beetle (ALB) and worked extensively on the ALB 
Eradication Program in Worcester, MA.  He has also recently received his Tree Risk Assessment 
Qualification (TRAQ) certification. His tree inventory experience includes, but is not limited to:	

Customer Name    Customer Name 
North Chicago, IL    Syracuse, NY 
Pacific Lutheran University                            Toronto, Canada                          
San Francisco, CA    Detroit, MI 
Davenport, IA     Richmond, VA    
Grand Rapids, MI Central Michigan University 
Cedar Rapids, IA    University of Kentucky 
University of Texas, Dallas 

Ken Greby, ISA Certified Arborist & Data Collector, ISA CERT # WC 0550 

Mr. Greby has been involved with plants and trees for his entire working life. He graduated in 1987 from 
California Polytechnic University, Pomona with a B.S. in Horticulture and a minor in Botany. Mr. Greby 
has been a certified arborist since 1998 and has worked on over 75 municipal inventories in addition to 
university and military installations. Mr. Greby has volunteered much of his time at Arboretums, 
conducting instructional classes for city personnel as well as residents on tree ID and tree care.  His tree 
inventory experience includes, but is not limited to: 



ArborPro Inc.  22605 La Palma Ave #509  Yorba Linda, CA 92887             
 877-844-DATA 

Copyright 2010 ArborPro Inc.  All Rights Reserved 

Customer Name Customer Name
San Francisco, CA    Malibu, CA 
Bend, OR     Grand Rapids, MI 
Albany, OR     Gaithersburg, MD 
Olympia, WA     Amarillo, TX    
Pacific Lutheran University   Central Michigan University 
University of Kentucky    Jamestown, ND 

Richard Seward – Certified Arborist ISA CERT #WE-9292AU and Certified Utility Specialist ISA 
CERT #WE-9292AU and Data Collector  

Richard has been a Certified Arborist for 6 years. Richard has worked in multiple 
aspects of the arboriculture industry; he has been on tree crews, surveyed 
distribution and power lines for tree growth, and completed tree inventories and 
health assessments. Richard is also C.P.R. and first aid certified. Richard has also 
worked as a Consulting Utility Forester. He is currently working in the City of 
San Francisco, CA; where he is leading our team of Data Collectors inventorying 
the City.   

Luis Saenz – Customer Service/GIS Professional/Software Technical Support 

Luis earned his Bachelor’s degree in Geography from Cal State University, Long Beach, CA. He then 
went on to earn a Master’s Degree in Geographic Information Science: MSGISci 
Luis wrote his thesis on: Developing a Data Collection and Data Management Methodology Using the 
Esri Collection, App, ArcGIS for Desktop, ArcGis  online, Aws Ec2m Postgresql, Postgis, and Qgis.  He 
is the perfect fit for the ArborPro GIS position.  Luis has experience using ArcGIS, Arcmap, Microsoft 
SQL Server, AWS server management as well as many other technical skills and years of customer 
service experience. Luis also developed an interactive app to help our clients when they have technical 
issues and need assistance.  

Scott Eckersall, GIS Developer & Product Manager 

Mr. Eckersall earned a BS degree in Civil Engineering from California State University, Los Angeles. He 
has been with ArborPro, Inc. for over ten years and has developed ArborPro as well as ArborPro Mobile.  
Previous to ArborPro, he served as Product Manager and lead software developer for Digital Map 
Products for three years where he designed CityGIS.com. Moreover, he worked at Psomas for one year 
where he developed a variety of GIS applications including an ArcView-based Automated Pollutant 
Loading Model for Los Angeles County. Lastly, he worked for Los Angeles County DPW for seven years 
in the IT and Design Divisions. Scott continues to update and improve ArborPro’s software by 
implementing suggestions and ideas from clients that use the program on a daily basis.  



ArborPro Inc. 22605 La Palma Ave #509 Yorba Linda, CA 92887

877-844-DATA
Copyright 2010 ArborPro Inc. All Rights Reserved

Proposed Fees

Fees below include all requirements of the RFP including the meetings to discuss the project

findings. Furthermore, ArborPro is including a license of our tree inventory software program at no

additional cost.

Location Cost
14th & Grand Playground 14th & Grand $131.25
15th Street Triangle 15th & Marine Drive $131.25
18th Street Flower Beds 18th Street & Marine $131.25
9th & Astor Park 9th & Astor $131.25
8th St. Triangle 8th & Marine Dr. $131.25
Alameda Park Alameda & Melbourne $131.25
Alameda Park Reserve Alameda & Cumberland $131.25
Alderbrook Natural Area 53rd & Alder $1,745.58
Alderbrook Park 45th & Leif Erickson $131.25
Aquatic Center Grounds 1997 W Marine Drive $393.74
Astoria Recreation Center Grounds 1555 W Marine Dr $656.23
Astor Park 1 Coxcomb Dr $4,921.74
Birch Field & Park 49th & Birch $262.49
Cathedral Tree Trail 2800 Block of Irving Avenue $3,937.39
Children's Park Playground 6th & Commercial $131.25
Columbia Fields 35th & Leif Erickson $524.99
Customs House 35th & Leif Erickson $131.25
Evergreen Fields Astoria Middle School $1,535.58
Exchange Street Parkway 17th St to 20th St $131.25
Fort Astoria Park 15th & Exchange $131.25
Fred Lindstrom Park 7th & Niagara $131.25
Gray School Recreation Complex Alameda & Chinook $131.25
Heritage Square / Garden of Surging Waves 11th & Duane $328.12
Marine Drive Parkway 10th St to 23rd St $196.87
Maritime Memorial Bay St & Marine Dr $65.62
McClure Park 8th & Grand $262.49
Mill Pond Park 23rd & Mill Pond Ln $131.25
Ocean View Cemetery 18th & Whiskey Rd, Warrenton $262.49
People's Park 16th & Marine $53.81
Pioneer Cemetery 15th & Niagara $275.62
Portal Park - East 33rd St & Marine Drive $131.25
Portal Park - West Taylor St & W Marine Drive $131.25



ArborPro Inc. 22605 La Palma Ave #509 Yorba Linda, CA 92887

877-844-DATA
Copyright 2010 ArborPro Inc. All Rights Reserved

Post Office Park 15th & Franklin $14.44
River Walk Smith Point to Alderbrook Lagoon $3,937.39
Library Parking Lot 10th & Exchange $26.25
Shively Park 16th & Williamsport $1,535.58
Smith Point Traffic Circle Hwy 101 & Hwy 202 $419.99
Tapiola Park S. Denver & W. Marine $1,574.96
Tidal Rock Park 15th & Commercial $262.49
Violet LaPlante Park 45th & Cedar $262.49
Youngs River Falls Young's River Loop Rd $1,049.97
Young’s Bay Marine Park 1555 W. Marine Dr. $262.49

$27,000.00





































































































 
 

CITY OF ASTORIA 
   Founded 1811 ● Incorporated 1856 
 
 
 

 
September 23, 2016 
 
 
M E M O R A N D U M 
 
TO: MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

FROM:  BRETT ESTES, CITY MANAGER 
 
SUBJECT: LOCAL FUEL TAX  ORDINANCE READOPTION 
 
DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS 
 
This proposed ordinance had its first reading at the September 19, 2016 City Council 
meeting.  Ordinance 07-02 was adopted August 20, 2007, concerning the provision for 
administration, enforcement and collection of three cents per gallon business license tax 
on motor vehicle fuel dealers. The use of tax revenue is for the construction, 
reconstruction, improvement, repair, maintenance, operation and use of City owned 
roads and streets within the City of Astoria, roads and streets for which City is 
contractually or legally obligated to operate and maintain, or roads and streets for which 
the City has accepted responsibility under intergovernmental agreement. 
 
City of Astoria and City of Warrenton adopted three cents per gallon business license 
tax ordinances at the same time and both will sunset in 2017, unless re-adopted. 
Astoria and Warrenton desire to continue the road tax for road maintenance by re-
adopting their respective ordinances. 
 
The City of Astoria has an intergovernmental agreement (IGA) with the Oregon 
Department of Transportation (ODOT) for the collection and administration of the City's 
fuel tax which was amended in May, 2016 to coincide with City of Warrenton's IGA 
ending September, 2016. Both agreements have been extended through September 30, 
2021. It is advantageous to have the ordinance renewal coincide with the timeline for 
the IGA with ODOT and early re-adoption by both Councils is being sought. 
 
City Attorney Henningsgaard prepared the readoption ordinance attached. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that Council conduct the second reading and adopt the proposed 
ordinance readopting a motor vehicle fuel tax. 
 

By:  
 Susan Brooks, CPA 
 Director of Finance & Administrative Services 



Page 1 of 1 

ORDINANCE NO. 16-_____ 
 

AN ORDINANCE READOPTING ORDINANCE NO. 07-02 PROVIDING FOR A 
MOTOR VEHICLE FUEL TAX 

 
 
THE CITY OF ASTOIRA DOES ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1. Readoption of Ordinance No. 07-02.  Ordinance No. 07-02, which added 
Code Sections 8.102 through 8.154 concerning a motor Vehicle Fuel Tax, is hereby 
readopted. 
 
Section 2. Elimination of Sunset Clause.  The Motor Fuel Tax provided in Code 
Sections 8.102 through 8.154 is hereby extended for an indefinite period until amended 
or repealed by Council action. 
 
Section 3. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall become effective 30 days after its 
adoption. 
 
ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL THIS 3RD DAY OF OCTOBER, 2016. 
 
APPROVED BY THE MAYOR THIS 3RD DAY OF OCTOBER, 2016. 
 
 
 
      _________________________________ 
           Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
__________________________ 
City Manager 
 
ROLL CALL ON ADOPTION YEA   NAY    ABSENT 
Councilor Nemlowill 
 Vacant 
 Price 
 Warr 
Mayor LaMear 
 



1 

ORDINANCE NO. 07-02 
 

AN ORDINANCE CONCERNING A $0.03 PER GALLON BUSINESS LICENSE 
TAX ON MOTOR VEHICLE FUEL DEALERS, PROVIDING FOR 

ADMINISTRATION, ENFORCEMENT AND COLLECTION OF THE TAX 
 

THE CITY OF ASTORIA DOES ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1.  Astoria Code Sections  8.102 through 8.154 concerning “Motor Vehicle Fuel 
Tax” are added to read as follows: 
 

“MOTOR VEHICLE FUEL TAX 
 
8.102 Definitions.  As used in this Ordinance, unless the context requires otherwise, 

the following words and phrases shall mean: 
 

(1) City.  The City of Astoria, Oregon. 
 
(2) Dealer.  Any person who:   

 
  (a) Imports or causes to be imported motor vehicle fuel for sale, use or 

distribution in the city, but "dealer" does not include any person who 
imports into the city motor vehicle fuel in quantities of 500 gallons or 
less purchased from a supplier who is licensed as a dealer hereunder 
if that dealer assumes liability for the payment of the applicable 
license tax to the city; or 

 
  (b) Produces, refines, manufactures or compounds motor vehicle fuels in 

the city for use, distribution or sale in the city; or 
 
  (c) Acquires in the city for sale, use or distribution in the city motor 

vehicle fuels with respect to which there has been no license tax 
previously incurred. 

 
(3) Distribution.  In addition to its ordinary meaning, the delivery of motor vehicle 

fuel by a dealer to any service station or into any tank, storage facility or 
series of tanks or storage facilities connected by pipelines, from which motor 
vehicle fuel is withdrawn directly for sale or for delivery into the fuel tanks of 
motor vehicles whether or not the service station, tank or storage facility is 
owned, operated or controlled by the dealer. 

 
(4) Highway.  Every way, thoroughfare and place of whatever nature, open for 

use of the public for the purpose of vehicular travel. 
 
(5) Motor Vehicle.  All vehicles, engines or machines, movable or immovable, 

operated or propelled by the use of motor vehicle fuel. 



2 

 
(6) Motor Vehicle Fuel.  Includes gasoline, diesel, mogas, methanol and any 

other flammable or combustible gas or liquid, by whatever name such 
gasoline, diesel, mogas, methanol, gas or liquid is known or sold, usable as 
fuel for the operation of motor vehicles, except gas, diesel, mogas, methanol 
or liquid, the chief use of which, as determined by the tax administrator, is for 
purposes other than the propulsion of motor vehicles upon the highways. 

 
(7) Person.  Includes every natural person, association, firm, partnership, 

corporation, joint venture or other business entity. 
 
(8) Service Station.  Any place operated for the purpose of retailing and 

delivering motor vehicle fuel into the fuel tanks of motor vehicles. 
 
(9) Tax Administrator.  The city manager, the city manager's designee, or any 

person or entity with whom the city manager contracts to perform those 
duties. 

 
(10) Weight Receipt.  A receipt issued by the Oregon Department of 

Transportation, stating the combined weight of each self-propelled or 
motor-driven vehicle. 

 
8.104 Tax Imposed.  A business license tax is hereby imposed on every dealer. The 

tax imposed shall be paid monthly to the tax administrator. The tax administrator 
is authorized to exercise all supervisory and administrative powers with regard 
to the enforcement, collection and administration of the business license tax, 
including all powers specified in ORS 319.010 to 319.430. 

 
8.106 Amount and Payment.  In addition to any fees or taxes otherwise provided for 

by law, every dealer engaging in the city in the sale, use or distribution of motor 
vehicle fuel, shall: 

 
(1) Not later than the 25th day of each calendar month, render a statement to 

the tax administrator on forms prescribed, prepared and furnished by the 
tax administrator of all motor vehicle fuel sold, used or distributed by 
him/her in the city as well as all such fuel sold, used or distributed in the 
city by a purchaser thereof upon which sale, use or distribution the dealer 
has assumed liability for the applicable license tax during the preceding 
calendar month. 

 
(2) Pay a license tax computed on the basis of $.03 (three cents) per gallon of 

such motor vehicle fuel so sold, used or distributed as shown by such 
statement in the manner and within the time provided in this code.  

 
8.108 License Requirements.  No dealer shall sell, use or distribute any motor 

vehicle fuel until he/she has secured a dealer's license as required herein. 



3 

 
8.110 License. Applications and Issuance. 
 

(1) Every person, before becoming a dealer in motor vehicle fuel in this city, 
shall make application to the tax administrator for a license authorizing 
such person to engage in business as a dealer. 

 
(2) Applications for the license shall be made on forms prescribed, prepared 

and furnished by the tax administrator. 
 
(3) Applications shall be accompanied by a duly acknowledged certificate 

containing: 
 

(a) The business name under which the applicant transacts business.   
 
(b) The address of applicant's principal place of business and location 

of distributing stations in and within three miles of the city. 
 
(c) The name and address of the managing agent, the names and 

addresses of   the several persons constituting the firm or 
partnership or, if a corporation, the name under which the 
corporation is authorized to transact business and the names and 
addresses of its principal officers and registered agent, as well as 
primary transport carrier. 

 
(4) If an application for a motor vehicle fuel dealer's license is complete and 

accepted for filing, the tax administrator shall issue to the dealer a license 
in such form as the tax administrator may prescribe to transact business in 
the city. A license issued hereunder is not assignable, and is valid only for 
the dealer in whose name it is issued. 

 
(5) The tax administrator shall retain all completed applications with an 

alphabetical index thereof, together with a record of all licensed dealers.  
 
8.112 Failure to Secure License. 
 

(1) If a dealer sells, distributes or uses any motor vehicle fuel without first filing 
the certificate and obtaining the license required by Section 8.110 of this 
ordinance, the license tax on all motor vehicle fuel sold, distributed or used 
by that dealer shall be immediately due and payable. 

 
(2) The tax administrator shall proceed forthwith to determine, from as many 

available sources as the tax administrator determines reasonable, the 
amount of tax due, shall assess the dealer for the tax in the amount found 
due, together with a penalty of 100 percent of the tax, and shall make its 
certificate of such assessment and penalty. In any suit or proceeding to 



4 

collect the tax or penalty or both, the certificate shall be prima facie 
evidence that the dealer therein named is indebted to the city in the 
amount of the tax and penalty stated. 

 
(3) Any tax or penalty assessed pursuant to this section may be collected in 

the manner prescribed in Section 8.120 of this ordinance with reference to 
delinquency in payment of the fee or by an action at law. 

 
(4) In the event any suit or action is instituted to enforce this section, if the City 

is the prevailing party, the City shall be entitled to recover from the person 
sued reasonable attorney's fees at trial or upon appeal of such suit or 
action, in addition to all other sums provided by law. 

 
8.114 Revocation of License.  The City or its authorized agent shall revoke the 

license of any dealer refusing or neglecting to comply with any provision of this 
Ordinance. The City or its authorized agent shall mail by certified mail 
addressed to such dealer or at his last known address appearing on the files, a 
notice of intention to cancel. The notice shall give the reason for the 
cancellation. The cancellation shall become effective without further notice if 
within 10 days from the mailing of the notice the dealer or fuel-handler has not 
made good its default or delinquency. 

 
8.116 Cancellation of License. 
 

(1) The tax administrator may, upon written request of a dealer, cancel a 
license issued to that dealer. The tax administrator shall, upon approving 
the dealer's request for cancellation, set a date not later than 30 days after 
receipt of the written request, after which the license shall no longer be 
effective. 

 
(2) The tax administrator may, after 30 days' notice has been mailed to the last 

known address of the dealer, cancel the license of dealer upon finding that 
the dealer is no longer engaged in the business of a dealer.  

 
8.118 Remedies Cumulative.  Except as otherwise provided in Sections 8.120 and 

8.124, the remedies provided in Sections 8.112 through 8.116 of this Ordinance 
are cumulative. No action taken pursuant to those sections shall relieve any 
person from the penalty provisions of this code. 

 
8.120 Payment of Tax and Delinquency. 
 

(1) The license tax imposed by Sections 8.102 to 8.150 of this chapter shall be 
paid to the tax administrator on or before the 25th day of each month. 

 
(2) Except as provided in subsections (3) and (5) of this section, if payment of 

the license tax is not paid as required by subsection (1) of this section, a 



5 

penalty of 1 percent of such license tax shall be assessed and be 
immediately due and payable. 

 
(3) Except as provided in subsection (5) of this section, if the payment of the 

tax and penalty, if any, is not made on or before the 1st day of the next 
month following that month in which payment is due, a further penalty of 10 
percent of the tax shall be assessed. Said penalty shall be in addition to 
the penalty provided for in subsection (2) of this section and shall be 
immediately due and payable. 

 
(4) If the license tax imposed by Sections 8.102 to 8.150 of this code is not 

paid as required by subsection (1) of this section, interest shall be charged 
at the rate of .0329 percent per day until the tax, interest and penalties 
have been paid in full. 

 
(5) Penalties imposed by this section shall not apply if a penalty has been 

assessed and paid pursuant to Section 8.112.  The tax administrator may 
for good cause shown waive any penalties assessed under this section. 

 
(6) If any person fails to pay the license tax, interest, or any penalty provided 

for by this section, the tax, interest, and/or penalty shall be collected from 
that person for the use of the city. The tax administrator shall commence 
and prosecute to final determination in any court of competent jurisdiction 
an action at law to collect the same. 

 
(7) In the event any suit or action is instituted to collect the business license 

tax, interest, or any penalty provided for by this section, if the City is the 
prevailing party, the City shall be entitled to recover from the person sued 
reasonable attorney's fees at trial or upon appeal of such suit or action, in 
addition to all other sums provided by law. 

 
8.122 Monthly Statement of Dealer.  Every dealer in motor vehicle fuel shall provide 

to the tax administrator on or before the 25th day of each month, on forms 
prescribed, prepared and furnished by the tax administrator, a statement of the 
number of gallons of motor vehicle fuel sold, distributed or used by the dealer 
during the preceding calendar month. The statement shall be signed by the 
dealer or the dealer's agent. 

 
8.124 Failure to File Monthly Statement.  If a dealer fails to file any statement 

required by Section 8.122, the tax administrator shall proceed forthwith to 
determine from as many available sources as the tax administrator determines 
reasonable the amount of motor vehicle fuel sold distributed or used by such 
dealer for the period unreported, and such determination shall in any proceeding 
be prima facie evidence of the amount of fuel sold, distributed or used. The tax 
administrator shall immediately assess the dealer for the license tax upon the 



6 

amount determined, adding thereto a penalty of 10 percent of the tax. The 
penalty shall be cumulative to other penalties provided in this code. 

 
8.126 Billing Purchasers.  Dealers in motor vehicle fuel shall render bills to all 

purchasers of motor vehicle fuel. The bills shall separately state and describe 
the different products sold or shipped there under and shall be serially 
numbered except where other sales invoice controls acceptable to the tax 
administrator are maintained. 

 
8.128 Failure to Provide Invoice or Delivery Tag.  No person shall receive and 

accept motor vehicle fuel from any dealer, or pay for the same, or sell or offer 
the motor vehicle fuel for sale, unless the motor vehicle fuel is accompanied by 
an invoice or delivery tag showing the date upon which motor vehicle fuel was 
delivered, purchased or sold and the name of the dealer in motor vehicle fuel. 

 
8.130 Transporting Motor Vehicle Fuel in Bulk.  Every person operating any 

conveyance for the purpose of hauling, transporting or delivering motor vehicle 
fuel in bulk shall, before entering upon the public highways of the city with such 
conveyance, have and possess during the entire time of the hauling or 
transporting of such motor vehicle fuel, an invoice, bill of sale or other written 
statement showing the number of gallons, the true name and address of the 
seller or consignor, and the true name and address of the buyer or consignee, if 
any, of the same. The person hauling such motor vehicle fuel shall, at the 
request of any officer authorized by law to inquire into or investigate such 
matters, produce and offer for inspection the invoice, bill of sale or other 
statement. 

 
8.132 Exemption of Export Fuel. 
 

(1) The license tax imposed by Section 8.104 shall not be imposed on motor 
vehicle fuel: 

 
  (a) Exported from the city by a dealer; or 
 
  (b) Sold by a dealer for export by the purchaser to an area or areas 

outside the city in containers other than the fuel tank of a motor 
vehicle, but every dealer shall be required to report such exports 
and sales to the city in such detail as may be required. 

 
(2) In support of any exemption from license taxes claimed under this section 

other than in the case of stock transfers or deliveries in the dealer's own 
equipment, every dealer must execute and file with the tax administrator an 
export certificate in such form as shall be prescribed, prepared and 
furnished by the tax administrator, containing a statement, made by some 
person having actual knowledge of the fact of such exportation, that the 
motor vehicle fuel has been exported from the city, and giving such details 



7 

with reference to such shipment as the tax administrator may require. The 
tax administrator may demand of any dealer such additional data as is 
deemed necessary in support of any such certificate, and failure to supply 
such data will constitute a waiver of all right to exemption claimed by virtue 
of such certificate. The tax administrator may, in a case where the tax 
administrator believes no useful purpose would be served by filing of an 
export certificate, waive the filing of the certificate.   

 
(3) Any motor vehicle fuel carried from the city in the fuel tank of a motor 

vehicle shall not be considered as exported from the city. 
 
(4) No person shall, through false statement, trick or device, or otherwise, 

obtain motor vehicle fuel for export as to which the city tax has not been 
paid and fail to export the same, or any portion thereof, or cause the motor 
vehicle fuel or any portion thereof not to be exported, or divert or cause to 
be diverted the motor vehicle fuel or any portion thereof to be used, 
distributed or sold in the city and fail to notify the tax administrator and the 
dealer from whom the motor vehicle fuel was originally purchased of 
his/her act. 

 
(5) No dealer or other person shall conspire with any person to withhold from 

export, or divert from export or to return motor vehicle fuel to the city for 
sale or use so as to avoid any of the fees imposed herein. 

 
(6) In support of any exemption from taxes on account of sales of motor 

vehicle fuel for export by the purchaser, the dealer shall retain in his/her 
files for at least three years, an export certificate executed by the 
purchaser in such form and containing such information as is prescribed by 
the tax administrator. This certificate shall be prima facie evidence of the 
exportation of the motor vehicle fuel to which it applies only if accepted by 
the dealer in good faith. 

 
8.134 Sales to Armed Forces Exempted.  The license tax imposed by Sections 

8.104 and 8.106 shall not be imposed on any motor vehicle fuel sold to the 
Armed Forces of the United States, including the U. S. Coast Guard and the 
Oregon National Guard, for use in ships, aircraft or for export from the city; but 
every dealer shall be required to report such sales to the tax administrator in 
such detail as may be required. A certificate by an authorized officer of such 
Armed Forces shall be accepted by the dealer as sufficient proof that the sale is 
for the purpose specified in the certificate. 

 
8.136 Fuel in Vehicles Coming Into City Not Taxed.  Any person coming into the 

city in a motor vehicle may transport in the fuel tank of such vehicle, motor 
vehicle fuel for his/her own use only and for the purpose of operating such motor 
vehicle without securing a license or paying the tax provided in Sections 8.104 
and 8.106 or complying with any of the provisions imposed upon dealers herein, 



8 

but if the motor vehicle fuel so brought into the city is removed from the fuel tank 
of the vehicle or used for any purpose other than the propulsion of the vehicle, 
the person so importing the fuel into the city shall be subject to all the provisions 
herein applying to dealers. 

 
8.138 Refunds. 
 

(1) Refunds of tax on motor vehicle fuel will be made pursuant to any refund 
provisions of Chapter 319 of the Oregon Revised Statutes, including but 
not limited to ORS 319.280 and 319.831. Claim forms for refunds may be 
obtained from the Tax Administrator's office. 

 
(2) A holder of a weight receipt that certifies to the city that the motor vehicle 

fuel upon which the tax was imposed will be used only for fueling vehicles 
subject to the State of Oregon's weight-mile tax, may apply for a refund of 
80 percent of the tax imposed by Section 8.106 of this code on motor 
vehicle fuel purchased in bulk for distribution at the weight receipt holder's 
facility located within the city. This subsection applies only to motor vehicle 
fuel purchased by the weight receipt holder on or after February 23, 2005. 

 
(3) All claims for refund under subsection (2) of this section shall be filed within 

15 months of the date that the fuel was purchased and may not be filed 
more frequently than quarterly. The minimum claim for refund filed under 
subsection (2) of this section shall be not less than $25.00.  

 
8.140 Examinations and Investigations.  The tax administrator, or duly authorized 

agents, may make any examination of accounts, records, stocks, facilities and 
equipment of dealers, service stations and other persons engaged in storing, 
selling or distributing motor vehicle fuel or other petroleum product or products 
within this city, and such other investigations as it considers necessary in 
carrying out the provisions of Sections 8.102 through 8.150. If the examinations 
or investigations disclose that any reports of dealers or other persons 
theretofore filed with the tax administrator pursuant to the requirements herein, 
have shown incorrectly the amount of gallonage of motor vehicle fuel distributed 
or the tax accruing thereon, the tax administrator may make such changes in 
subsequent reports and payments of such dealers or other persons, or may 
make such refunds, as may be necessary to correct the errors disclosed by its 
examinations or investigation. The dealer shall reimburse the city for the 
reasonable costs of the examination or investigation if the action discloses that 
the dealer paid 95 percent or less of the tax owing for the period of the 
examination or investigation. In the event that such an examination or 
investigation results in an assessment by and an additional payment due to the 
city, such additional payment shall be subject to interest at the rate of .0329 
percent per day from the date the original tax payment was due.  

 
 



9 

8.142 Limitation on Credit for or Refund of Overpayment and on Assessment of 
Additional Tax. 

 
(1) Except as otherwise provided in this code, any credit for erroneous 

overpayment of tax made by a dealer taken on a subsequent return or any 
claim for refund of tax erroneously overpaid filed by a dealer must be so 
taken or filed within three years after the date on which the overpayment 
was made to the city. 

 
(2) Except in the case of a fraudulent report or neglect to make a report, every 

notice of additional tax proposed to be assessed under this code shall be 
served on dealers within three years from the date upon which such 
additional taxes become due, and shall be subject to penalty as provided in 
Section 8.120. 

 
8.144 Examining Books and Accounts of Carrier of Motor Vehicle Fuel.  The tax 

administrator or duly authorized agents of the tax administrator may at any time 
during normal business hours examine the books and accounts of any carrier of 
motor vehicle fuel operating within the city for the purpose of enforcing the 
provisions of this code. 

 
8.146 Records to be Kept by Dealers.  Every dealer in motor vehicle fuel shall keep 

a record in such form as may be prescribed by the tax administrator of all 
purchases, receipts, sales and distribution of motor vehicle fuel. The records 
shall include copies of all invoices or bills of all such sales and shall at all times 
during the business hours of the day be subject to inspection by the tax 
administrator or authorized officers or agents of the tax administrator.  

 
8.148 Records to be Kept Three Years.  Every dealer shall maintain and keep, for a 

period of three years, all records of motor vehicle fuel used, sold and distributed 
within the city by such dealer, together with stock records, invoices, bills of 
lading and other pertinent papers as may be required by the tax administrator. In 
the event such records are not kept within the state of Oregon, the dealer shall 
reimburse the tax administrator for all travel, lodging, and related expenses 
incurred by the tax administrator in examining such records. The amount of such 
expenses shall be assessed in addition to the tax imposed by Section 8.104. 

 
8.150 Use of Tax Revenues. 
 

(1) For the purpose of this section, net revenue shall mean the revenue from 
the tax and penalties imposed by Sections 8.102 through 8.150 remaining 
after providing for the cost of administration and any refunds and credits 
authorized herein. 

 
(2) The net revenue shall be used exclusively for the construction, 

reconstruction, improvement, repair, maintenance, operation, and use of 



10 

city owned roads and streets within the city, roads and streets for which the 
city is contractually or legally obligated to operate and maintain, or roads 
and streets for which the city has accepted responsibility under 
intergovernmental agreement.  

 
8.152 When Tax Shall Take Effect.  The tax imposed pursuant to Section 8.104 shall 

take effect only after the Tax Administrator has developed the necessary forms 
and documents to administer the tax.  The Tax Administrator shall declare when 
the tax shall take effect, and give not less than 15 days notice of the date before 
the tax may take effect.  The Tax Administrator’s decision as to the effective 
date of the tax and the type of notice to provide shall be final and not subject ot 
review. 

 
8.154 Severability.  If any portion of this ordinance is for any reason held invalid or 

unconstitutional by a court of competent jurisdiction, such portion shall be 
deemed a separate, distinct and independent provision and such holding shall 
not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this ordinance.” 

 
Section 2.  Effect Date of Ordinance.  This Ordinance shall become effective November 
1, 2007. 
 
Section 3.  Sunset Clause.  This Ordinance will terminate as of July 1, 2017, unless re-
adopted. 
 
ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL THIS 20TH DAY OF AUGUST, 2007. 
 
APPROVED BY THE MAYOR THIS 20TH DAY OF AUGUST, 2007. 
 

 
 
ROLL CALL ON ADOPTION YEA   NAY    ABSENT 
Councilor Compere X 
 Roscoe X 
 Henningsgaard X 
 Warr X 
Mayor Van Dusen X 



 
 

CITY OF ASTORIA 
   Founded 1811 ● Incorporated 1856 
 
 
 

 
 
 
September 23, 2016 
 
 
 
M E M O R A N D U M 
 
TO: MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

FROM:  BRETT ESTES, CITY MANAGER 
 
SUBJECT: RESOLUTION DECLARING A VACANCY FOR THE POSITION OF 

COUNCILOR, WARD 2  
 
DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS 
 
Drew Herzig was elected to the position of Councilor Ward 2 for a four year term 
expiring on December 31, 2016.  Mr. Herzig has submitted his resignation as Councilor 
of Ward 2 effective September 13, 2016.  Pursuant to Astoria City Charter Sections 4.8 
and 4.9, the Astoria City Council may appoint an individual to the position or declare 
that a vacancy exists in the position of Councilor, Ward 2 and that said vacancy will be 
filled at the next available election, November 8, 2016.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that Council either determine to make an appointment or consider 
the attached resolution stating the vacancy will be filled at the next available election, 
November 8, 2016.  
 



 RESOLUTION NO. 16-____  
 
 
RESOLUTION DECLARING A VACANCY FOR THE POSITION OF COUNCILOR, WARD 2 
 
 
 WHEREAS, Drew Herzig, was elected to the position of Councilor, Ward 2, on 
November 6, 2012 for a four year term commencing January 1, 2013; and 
 
 WHEREAS Mr. Herzig has moved from the City of Astoria and has submitted his 
resignation as Councilor of Ward 2. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, pursuant to the Astoria City Charter, Sections 4.8 and 4.9, be it 
resolved by the City of Astoria as follows: 
 
Section 1.  The Council declares that a vacancy exists in the position of Councilor, Ward 2, 
and said vacancy will be filled at the next available election, November 8, 2016. 
 
ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL THIS 3RD DAY OF OCTOBER, 2016. 
 
APPROVED BY THE MAYOR THIS 3RD DAY OF OCTOBER, 2016. 
 
 
 
      ____________________________________ 
         Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
__________________________ 
City Manager 
 
 
 
ROLL CALL ON ADOPTION  YEA  NAY  ABSENT 
Councilor  
 Nemlowill  
 Ward 2 Vacant  
 Price  
 Warr  
Mayor LaMear  



mailto:bestes@astoria.or.us


mailto:bestes@astoria.or.us


mailto:bestes@astoria.or.us


City Hall1095 Duane StreetAstoria, OR 97103Phone 503-338-5183 Fax 503-338-6538 
bestes@astoria.or.us  www.astoria.or.us 

 

Figures 1-8, proposed parklet  

2 

 

 

 

1 

 

 

 
3 

 

 

 

4 

 

 

 

5 

 

 

 6 

 

7

 

8

 

mailto:bestes@astoria.or.us






































City of Astoria 

Parklet Pilot Program 

General Requirements 
 

Parklets are allowed within the street rights-of-way in accordance with the following standards: 

Definition, Location Criteria, & Limits: 

• “Parklet” is defined to mean a sidewalk extension that provides more space and amenities for 
people using the sidewalk in conjunction with the adjoining business. 
 

• Parklets will only be permitted in the Downtown area and will not be allowed on Marine Drive, 
Commercial Street, Duane Street, or Exchange Street due to truck traffic dangers. 
 

• Only fronting properties/businesses can apply for a parklet permit. 
 

• The size of a parklet must not exceed 7 feet into street (providing 1-foot clear from parking line) 
and a total length of the existing parking space minus 2 feet (1 foot on each side to provide 
clearance from adjacent parking spaces).  
 

• A parklet must be located at least 20 feet from a crosswalk or street corner. 
 

• Shall be considered public spaces therefore will be available to the general public 24 hours a day 
when not occupied during regular business hours of the permittee that installed the structure. 
 

• Limited to 1 parking space and one per block per side of block. 

Design & Construction 

• It is the responsibility of the permitee to design the parklet in compliance with Americans with 
Disability Administrative Guidelines (ADAAG) if the structure will provide pedestrian access. 
 

• Will be allowed year around but must be a removable structure. 
 

• A parklet must have adequate drainage under structure adjacent to curb to pass street drainage. 
 

• Structure corners must be reflectorized to provide nighttime visibility by oncoming traffic. 
 

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Sidewalk


• Rubber wheel stops must be placed on both ends of the parklet structure to warn parking cars of 
structures presence. 
 

• A parklet cannot be located over water valves, adjacent to a fire hydrant, or over any other 
existing utilities in the street. 
 

• The parklet shall not have a roof structure. Materials shall not include loose gravel, sand, or other 
such material. Floor material must be slip resistant. 
 

• Green Building: Reuse, recycling, and locally sourced materials and services is strongly 
encouraged, but not required. Plant materials are also strongly encouraged, but must be 
containerized. 
 

• The parklet shall not have any utilities that require wires or conduit crossing the sidewalk. 
 

• A building permit may be required for any structure and ADA compliance. 

Operations & Maintenance 

• The permitee shall keep the parklet and surrounding area clean and well maintained. City street 
sweeper will not be able to access the street under and near the parklet so the permittee will be 
required to clean the area not maintained by the street sweeper. 
 

• The permitee must insure the structure, list the City as an additional insured, and provide 
documentation to satisfy liability. 
 

• With the exception of food and beverage associated with a permittee, no merchandise will be 
allowed on a parklet unless specifically approved by the Community Development Director. 
 

• The Oregon Smokefree Workplace Law shall apply within10 feet of any workplace entrance. The 
permittee may also ban smoking within the parklet consistent with State Law. 

Application Process & Design Review 

• Applicant must contact all property owners on the block to solicit input. Owner’s comments may 
be considered by the City, but individuals owners or businesses who object cannot “veto” 
project. 
 

• Application will be reviewed by Development Review Committee (City Staff) for general 
requirements and by the Community Development Director for Design Review and then 
submitted to City Council for approval with any conditions that may apply. 
 



• Application to City must include the following: 
a. Application form; 
b. Location map (site plan); 
c. Concept design, elevations, and materials list; 
d. Verification of neighboring property owner notice and ADHDA Design Committee 

documenting support or concerns; 
e. A design that meets sight distance and safety requirements; 
f. Proof of insurance; and 
g. If original submittal does not include enough detail for Design Review for final approval, 

additional information will be requested by the City to complete the approval process. 

It is the intention of this document to provide general requirements for the implementation of a 2 year 
pilot project. Only 2 parklets will be permitted during the 2 year pilot project period.  On an annual basis, 
City staff will refine the parklet requirements drawing on the experience of the pilot phase and other 
cities. 


	CC Agenda 10-3-16
	CC Agenda Memo 10-3-16
	6(a) CC Minutes 9-6-16
	6(b) Finance Dept Status Report 9-2016
	6(c) Fire Dept Status Report
	6(d) Contract Amendment for Spur 14 Water Line
	6(e) 16th Street CSO Project
	6(f) Contract for Tree Inventory
	7(a) Liquor License App for Street 14
	7(b) Ordinance Redopting Local Fuel Tax 2nd Reading
	7(c) Ward 2 Vacancy
	7(d) Parklet Proposal



